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Company Profile
NGl

We are a leading dental services provider in the premium private
dental service market in China. Founded in 1999, we have served
approximately 12.3 million patient visits in the past ten years, and
have been instrumental in raising public awareness and driving
consumer recognition of the importance of dental care and good
oral hygiene in China. Our network of dental clinics and hospitals
provides a wide array of dental healthcare services across China.
We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our “Arrail Dental” and
“Rytime Dental” brands to serve customers of different economic
and geographic backgrounds. Through decades of commitment
and service in the dental healthcare industry, we have earned
the trust of our patients, and have successfully established an
extensive presence in China. As of March 31, 2025, we had a total
of 118 stores, including 107 dental clinics and 11 hospitals in 15
cities across China.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile, and our vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We offer a diverse range of professional, personalized dental
services spanning (i) general dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii)
implantology. Through decades of commitment and endeavors
in the dental healthcare industry, we have earned the trust of our
patients.
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Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your attention and support in the development of the
Group. | would like to take this opportunity to report to you on our
operations for the year ended March 31, 2025 (“FY2024/2025")
and our vision of operations for the year ending March 31, 2026.

l. PERFORMANCE REPORT

In FY2024/2025, the Group demonstrated strong resilience
and adaptability in a complex market environment. Despite
the challenges posed by the overall economic situation
and the intensified competition in the industry, we have
achieved remarkable results in terms of performance by
leveraging our deep brand heritage, professional medical
team and flexible operational strategies.

The Group’s revenue was approximately RMB1.688
billion for the year ended March 31, 2025. Affected by
the overall economic environment, our treatment prices
have declined, resulting in a 3.3% year-on-year decline
in revenue compared to the previous financial year.
Nevertheless, we achieved significant growth in operating

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

profit through vigorous implementation of cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement measures. The Group’s
operating profit reached approximately RMB36.23 million,
representing a significant year-on-year increase of 39.4%;
and the net profit increased to approximately RMB16.168
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 20.5%.
The double-digit growth in operating profit and net profit
fully demonstrated the Group’s stable operation and
management capability and sustainable profit model.

In terms of store expansion and operation, as of March 31,
2025, the Group had established 118 stores in 15 cities in
China, including 107 clinics and 11 hospitals. In terms of
brand distribution, we operated 48 clinics under the Arrail
brand and 59 clinics and 11 hospitals under the Rytime
brand. We continued to optimize and upgrade our stores,
and opened a dental hospital with 41 dental chairs in
Wuxi in FY2024/2025, bringing the total number of dental
chairs to 1,566. In terms of customer visits, the number of
patient visits for FY2024/2025 was 1,970,394, representing
an increase of 0.3% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. At present, over 70% of stores in the
phase of steady growth have been in operation for more
than 6 years, and the profit margin of such stores has
been maintained at a relatively high level, providing a solid
foundation for our profitability.

ADJUSTMENT OF ORGANIZATIONAL
STRUCTURE

In the face of changing market trends, we have broken the
traditional structure with “regional management”. We have
shifted from the dual-brand management model of “Arrail”
and “Rytime” to the four regional management models
of North China, East China, South China and West China
since April 2025. Under the new structure, our regional
management centers will coordinate and manage all Arrail
Dental and Rytime Dental stores within their respective
jurisdictions, enabling unified deployment of resources
including operation management, medical quality control
and marketing.
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We have achieved remarkable results in regional
management. On the one hand, we achieved in-depth
integration of medical resources, supply chain resources
and market resources in the region, such as cross-brand
consultations and visits by experts, joint procurement to
reduce costs, and joint promotion to attract customers;
on the other hand, we can better cope with consumption
stratification, achieve natural flow of customers at different
consumption levels between the two brands, and enhance
customer stickiness. In addition, our regional management
centers are able to flexibly adjust our strategies based on
the characteristics of the local market and respond quickly
to market changes.

OPERATION REVIEW

(N Keeping the Original Heart and Consolidating
the Quality Foundation

We are fully aware that medical quality is the
lifeline of corporate development and have always
regarded improving medical quality as our core
work. In FY2024/2025, we have made efforts from
multiple dimensions to build an all-round and
multi-layer medical quality management system,
forging medical safety with craftsmanship spirit, and
striving to provide patients with safe, high-quality
and efficient dental services.

1. Expert committees for specialties and
medical dean: In FY2024/2025, we further
strengthened the leading role of eight
expert committees for specialties, including
orthodontics, prosthodontics, implantology,
endodontics, maxillofacial surgery, general
dentistry, periodontics, pediatrics and other
disciplines. The expert committees for
specialties actively played their professional
guiding role and regularly conducted
activities such as case seminars, training
sessions and technical exchanges, so as
to promote the overall improvement of the
medical technology level of the Group. We
have recruited or promoted one or more
medical deans in each city to strengthen
the management function of medical deans
and supervise the strict implementation of
medical quality standards to ensure that
each of our stores can provide patients
with high-quality and homogeneous dental
services.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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Expert workshops: We have set up a
number of implantology expert workshops
to give full play to the technical advantages
of top implantology experts to empower
medical care across regions and brands. On
the one hand, we utilized the strengths of our
experts to solve difficult implantation cases
in a timely manner, and on the other hand,
we further enhanced the Group’s overall
implantation medical capabilities through
preceptorship.

Orthodontic consultation platform: In order
to overcome the difficult problem of diagnosis
and treatment of complex orthodontic
cases, the Group launched the orthodontic
consultation platform. The platform integrates
the resources of orthodontic experts across
the country and provides personalized
and precise diagnosis and treatment plans
customized for orthodontic patients through
online consultation. Since the launch of the
platform, we have successfully served a large
number of patients, effectively improved the
quality and effect of orthodontic treatment,
and received wide acclaim from patients.

AED equipment and first aid competition:
We have always put patients’ safety as
our first priority. All clinics and hospitals
under the Group are equipped with AED
(Automated External Defibrillator) and
other first aid equipment according to the
standard, and regularly organize medical
staff to conduct first aid skills training and
drills. We successfully held the National
Chairside First Aid Skills Competition
for Doctors and Nurses with an aim to
promote training through competition,
which significantly improved the emergency
response capabilities of the medical and
nursing teams in the face of emergencies,
providing a solid guarantee for the safety of
patients during the diagnosis and treatment
process.
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(1

New Technology Leads Industry Development

The Group attaches great importance to the
coordinated development of digitalization
construction and medical technology innovation. We
have established a digital management platform to
achieve efficient integration and analysis of medical
data, which not only provides data support for the
improvement of medical quality, but also creates
favorable conditions for the research, development
and application of new technologies and further
consolidates the Group's technological advantages
in the field of dental services.

1. Dental implant robots: Since the South
China Special Administrative Region’s oral
robotics medical team began providing
clinical services in 2022, the application of
implant robot technology has penetrated
deeply into the Group. To date, we have
successfully completed nearly 300 robotic
implant surgeries, achieving a precision
of 0.05mm and an angular error of 0.71
degrees. The use of implant robots has
significantly enhanced the accuracy and
safety of our implant surgeries, providing
patients with a more comfortable treatment
experience. This has become one of the
Group'’s core competitive advantages in the
field of dental implants.

2. Chairside CAD/CAM: We have continued to
increase the application of digital technology
in the field of dental services, and achieved
digital transformation in various aspects
of dental clinical practice. Intraoral laser
scanning (iTero) and digital orthodontics,
digital guide plate and navigation technology
for oral implantology, chairside computer
aided design and manufacturing (CAD/CAM)
digital restoration technology are widely used
by us. The realization of chairside CAD/CAM
has greatly shortened the treatment cycle
for our patients, improved the manufacturing
accuracy and quality of dental prosthetics,
and increased the satisfaction of patients.

Chairman’s Statement
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3. Digital supply chain management and smart
cabinets: We have leveraged on the purchase-
sale-inventory and consignment system of the
‘Friday” supply chain platform to effectively
reduce inventory backlog and waste. Through
the promotion and application of smart
cabinets, we can realize automatic inventory
counting and whole-process traceability,
monitor the inventory level of consumables in
real time, and give priority to the use of drugs
and consumables close to their expiration
dates, reducing issues about near-expired
drugs and consumables. When consumables
are insufficient, the supply side is reminded to
replenish the stock in a timely manner, so as
to ensure the sufficient supply of consumables
during the diagnosis and treatment, improving
the efficiency and transparency of our supply
chain management.

Reducing Cost and Increasing Efficiency to
Unleash Profit Potential

In the face of cost pressures brought by the economic
environment, the Group has comprehensively carried
out the strategy of cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement. In terms of procurement, we have
optimized the supply chain structure, established
long-term and stable cooperative relationships with
high-quality suppliers, and implemented strategies
such as centralized procurement and multi-source
supply to reduce procurement costs. In terms of the
operation, we have promoted refined management,
optimized store layout and staffing by renegotiating
store leases and adjusting the locations of inefficient
stores, improved equipment utilization, and reduced
operating energy consumption. We have introduced
digital management tools to improve office efficiency
and reduce unnecessary administrative expenses.
At the same time, we have strengthened cost control
and budget management, strictly controlled various
expenses, and ensured that every fund is used
reasonably.
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(v)

Talent Cultivation to Achieve Organizational
Transition

In terms of talent team development, the number
of full-time dentists of the Group increased from
972 as of March 31, 2024 to 999 as of March 31,
2025. We provide doctors with comprehensive
career development paths and an integrated
training system, which has effectively improved
team cohesion and talent retention rate. Nearly half
of the Group’s dentists have been employed by the
Group for more than 5, 10 and 15 years, ensuring
the stability and professionalism of our medical
services.

1. Doctor recruitment: In terms of talent
introduction, we intensified our efforts in the
recruitment of medical team in FY2024/2025,
focused on the development of core talent
team, and accurately allocated positions
at different levels. During FY2024/2025, we
introduced 8 deans and discipline leaders,
6 director-level talents,
the backbone level and above, and 20 new
doctors recruited from campus. It is worth
mentioning that among the doctors we
introduced this time, 6 doctors hold doctoral
degrees, which inject high-end academic

16 core doctors at

strength into the team and improves our
medical level in an all-round way.

Chairman’s Statement
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Training and competitions: We provide various
training and development opportunities for
employees with different positions. We have
provided multi-dimensional training courses
for doctors, covering new technologies,
clinical skills improvement, case analysis,
etc. In addition to encouraging our doctors to
attend in-house professional training courses,
we also encourage doctors to attend
domestic and foreign academic conferences
and pursue further education to get in touch
with cutting-edge technologies and concepts
in industry. We carry out training sessions for
nursing positions to strengthen basic nursing
skills and prevention and control practices of
nosocomial infection, and regularly organize
skill training and operation competitions to
improve the level of nursing services. We
have provided customer service positions
with training to improve service awareness
and communication skills, and improved
customer service quality through service
skills training, simulation exercises and
other activities. Through various training
sessions and competitions, we have created
a good learning atmosphere and promoted
employees to continuously improve their
own capabilities, providing a solid talent
guarantee for the development of the Group.
When new employees are on the job, we
quickly familiarize them with the Group’s
culture, rules and regulations and basic
job knowledge through the “New Employee
Orientation”. We have also launched
thousands of courses through the online and
offline training platform of Arrail Academy
(3wEZE), which has greatly improved the
professional quality and service level of our
employees.

BN E  RARTRBEL
BTRHEEEZHrEIEE
EHE - RSB LEURRE
RERTEAN - BRARBERTT -
w00 E % 4 R B IR IER
2o WAk T S BB LS M
MR E EEIIRIZI - BE
BELE2ME NN
EEEE  URBITES
RATERIER - JFIRER AL
PSR E R TR R BE - Bk
PRl - E EMA A AR
J - BRIEBE - R IERY
IKF - HAIAFRELFRR
TR ER - BBEROENE
MR BB RIS R I
BROBERERE) IR EFPR
BEE - BBBRRSREIIM
& BPEERTNEER
REB T TER A F6E
h RARBEREREEN
ARG » #18 TARE - &
P # 8 T AR R
BABAEEL  REHE
KA BN - HAVEBA
[HRREIRERTHES
RMEEIIFE  REHER LTS
REBARATEINEE
FEBERIEIKF



2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

13

(V) Strengthening our Brand Foundation with
Social Responsibilities

1.

Evolution and implementation of our
corporate culture: We adhere to the values
of “integrity, professionalism and being
a good person”, and deeply practice the
service philosophy of “customer-centered,
treating customers as our family members”.
In FY2024/2025, we translated our corporate
culture into behavioral guidelines: “trying
to solve problems instead of making
excuses, acting properly with courageous
commitment, seeking win-win cooperation
with open communication, pursuing
progress with unremitting efforts, focusing
more on practical operation instead of
theoretical knowledge, and taking the lead
to offer more help and less preaching at
others”. We promote the evolution and
implementation of our corporate culture
through various initiatives including cultural
training programs, thematic activities and
internal publications. By strengthening
our employees’ sense of identification and
belonging, we embed the values of our
corporate culture into daily operations as the
code of conduct, thereby enhancing team
cohesion and centripetal force.

Live streams and video channels: We
actively utilized new media platforms to fulfill
our social responsibilities by carrying out
oral health education activities through live
streams and video channels, which have
attracted a large number of audience to
watch and interact with us. We produced a
series of high-quality oral health education
videos and released them on video channels
and other platforms to popularize oral health
knowledge and raise public awareness of
oral health, which has achieved good social
response. | have also started to try live
streaming and video channels to share with
audience my business philosophies and
life insights from my personal experience,
serving as a “cultural ambassador” to
promote our corporate brand.

Chairman’s Statement
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3. Community activities: We continue to
enhance the community health services of
our clinics by holding monthly Open Day
events to provide local residents with free
oral health examinations, consultations and
educational seminars. We have set up public
service clinic stations in the community,
equipped with portable diagnostic and
treatment equipment to facilitate residents
having oral examinations at any time. We
launched the “Silver Hair Dental Care
Initiative” for elderly residents, providing
free dental cleaning and denture care
guidance, and set up an “Elderly Oral
Health Database” to track their oral health
status to safeguard the oral health of the
community. In the current financial year, the
Group partnered with the China Oral Health
Foundation to launch the public welfare
activity of “Star Lighting Plan” for children
with autism, providing them with professional
oral care products, free diagnosis and basic
treatments.

IV. BUSINESS OUTLOOKS

(U]

All-in Al

We steadfastly promote the deep integration
of Al and digital technologies throughout our
dental services, positioning Al as an important
development strategy for the Company in the future.
We have first-mover advantages in Al, relying on
the repository of tens of millions of high-quality
dental cases, the multi-format operational expertise
covering clinics to hospitals, as well as the clinical
decision process refined from thousands of internal
multi-disciplinary complex case discussions,
enabling rapid transformation of our existing leading
advantages into practical outcomes. Powered by Al
technologies, dentists are able to handle medical
tasks more efficiently, freeing them up to focus
more on communication and emotional connection
with patients, thereby providing more humanized
services to patients. Through Al-powered quality
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control and intelligent monitoring, we will realize
comprehensive and real-time control of medical
quality to ensure every treatment service meets
the industry’s leading standards. Digital-driven
operational analytics will empower us to gain
precise insights into patients’ needs, optimize
service workflows, achieve refined and intelligent
operational management, and improve overall
operation efficiency. At present, our Al applications
have been successfully deployed across multiple
clinical scenarios.

1. Al-assisted diagnosis: Leveraging our
extensive repository of clinical data
accumulated over the years, we have
developed an Al-assisted diagnosis system.
The system can enhance our dentists’
capabilities in achieving rapid and accurate
diagnosis of oral diseases, reducing
misdiagnosis and missed diagnosis rates.
Through intelligent analysis of patients’ dental
images and medical records, the Al-assisted
diagnosis system provides our dentists
with diagnostic suggestions and treatment
recommendations, thereby improving the
efficiency and quality of diagnosis and
treatment.

2. Al-assisted documentation of electronic
medical records (EMR): Leveraging various
types of data generated during the diagnosis
and treatment, our Al-assisted documentation
system can automatically extract key medical
information to assist dentists in quickly
completing the documentation of EMR, which
reduces the workload of manual input while
ensuring the completeness and compliance
of medical records, thereby improving the
efficiency and quality of documentation.

3. Al-assisted quality control: During the
diagnosis and treatment, our Al system
conducts real-time monitoring and validation
of our dentists’ workflows and clinical
compliance, ensuring that each clinical
service meets the medical quality standards.
Through Al-assisted quality control, we can
timely identify and rectify potential issues
on medical quality, effectively improving the
management and control of medical quality
and ensuring patient safety.
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Al-powered customer service: We have built
an intelligent customer service system which
provides patients with 7x12-hour consultation
services through multiple channels including
400 customer service hotlines, online
customer service on the official website
and Al virtual assistants. The Al-powered
customer service rapidly responds to
patient inquiries, resolve frequently asked
questions, and transfer complex cases
to human agents. Through the intelligent
pre-diagnosis function, patients receive
our preliminary treatment recommendations
within 30 minutes after submitting their
symptoms, which greatly enhances our
service responsiveness and satisfaction of
our customers.

Al follow-up assistant: Based on patients’
medical records and recovery cycles, the
Al follow-up assistant can automatically
generate personalized follow-up protocols,
remind medical staff to conduct patient
follow-ups on time while recording patients’
feedback to provide data support for
subsequent optimization of diagnosis and
treatment services, thereby enhancing
patients’ experience and loyalty.

Al-assisted analytics: We leveraged Al
technology to conduct in-depth analysis
of the Group’s operational data and
patient data. By analyzing information
such as patients’ visit habits and demand
preferences, we provide data backup for our
marketing and service optimization. In terms
of operational management, we optimize
resource allocation and improve operational
efficiency through Al-based analysis of store
operation data.
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(Z) HEHEBEBARS

(1)) Actively Promoting the Partnership Mechanism

In the future, the Group will actively implement and
deepen the partnership mechanism for clinics, so
as to improve the performance of clinics, reduce
operating costs and consolidate the core team
of dentists, while injecting strong impetus for the
high-quality development of the Group. We will
rigorously select quality talents with excellent
medical skills and highly compatible values in
our partner system, ensuring each partner will
be aligned with the strategies of the Group.
The partners will be granted both full power
of operational decision-making and enlarged
proportion of shareholding or interest distribution,
so as to make the interest community strongly
connected and transform the partners from
“employees” to “stakeholders”, fully motivating
themselves and stimulate their creativity. The
Group will initiate pilot programs in key cities to
accumulate mature experience before promoting
it nationwide. In addition to continuously providing
partners with resources, technology, and operational
support, specialized training programs such as
entrepreneurship camp for out-patient partners will
also be implemented to chart the course for career
development of chief dentists and core dentists, with
a view to creating a virtuous environment where the
partners and the Group mutually achieve success
and develop synergistically. For this purpose, the
selection of dentists from campus recruitment will
also focus on their potential as future partners, so
that the talent training will be integrated with partner
reserves, achieving the mutual empowerment of the
Group’s talent pipeline building and the individuals’
career development.
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Adhering to the Dual-brand Operation and
Strengthening Resource Integration between the
Two Brands

Despite the organizational restructuring we have
undertaken for our regional management model,
we still remain steadfast in carrying out dual-brand
operation strategy of “Arrail Dental” and “Rytime
Dental” to accurately target customer groups
with different consumption levels. Arrail Dental
focuses on providing high-standard, user-friendly
and long-term planned oral medical and health
management services to high-end customers in Tier-
1 cities and emerging Tier-1 cities, so as to become
a trusted oral health manager for customers. We
will consolidate our leading position in the high-end
dental healthcare market by improving service
quality, optimizing the treatment environment and
introducing international cutting-edge technologies.
Rytime Dental is committed to providing one-stop
dental diagnosis and treatment services for the
middle-class groups in Tier-1 and core Tier-
2 cities. With its experienced medical team and
“customer-centric” service philosophy, it has
become a trusted dental service institution that
assures customers. We will further expand our
market share through reasonable pricing, expanding
service network and strengthening community
marketing, etc.

At the same time, we will strengthen the resource
integration and synergetic development between our
two brands. In terms of medical technology, we have
realized the sharing of expert resources, as well as
technology exchange and mutual learning to elevate
the overall medical standard. In terms of supply
chain management, we have reduced procurement
costs through centralized procurement and joint
supplier development. In terms of marketing, we
have integrated marketing channels and resources
to enhance brand communication efficiency.
Through the synergistic effects of our two brands,
we aim to boost the Group’s overall competitiveness
in the dental market and cater to the diverse needs
of customers across various consumption levels.
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(v)

Strengthening Customer Connections and
Channel Development

We attach great importance to the retention and
follow-up of regular customers, striving to establish
a comprehensive follow-up system for them. We aim
to enhance the stickiness and loyalty of our regular
customers through regular follow-ups, personalized
care, exclusive special offers, etc. We have an
in-depth understanding of the evolving needs of
regular customers and provide timely feedback to
our medical service team and marketing department
in a bid to optimize service offerings and product
design.

In terms of channel expansion, we actively seek
cooperation with commercial insurance institutions
to develop more commercial insurance products
tailored for dental services, which allows us to offer
patients diverse payment options, reducing their
medical expenses and enhancing the accessibility
of dental services. Meanwhile, we closely monitor
the evolving medical insurance policies to advocate
for the inclusion of more dental services in medical
insurance reimbursement to benefit more patients.

We have stepped up our efforts in expanding the
corporate customer market, offering tailored oral
health check-ups, discounted treatment packages
and other services to corporate employees, and
broadening our customer base and market share by
fostering long-term partnerships with enterprises. In
the current financial year, we successfully acquired
a corporate customer base exceeding one million,
enabling us to extend our dental services to a
broader population.
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“Long as the journey is, we will reach our destination
if we stay the course; difficult as the task is, we
will get the job done if we keep working at it.”
Since opening its first clinic in Beijing International
Building in 1999, the Group has been deeply rooted
in the dental industry for 26 years. The former
International Building Clinic has been upgraded to
the Jianguomen Flagship Clinic (ZEIFTEEZFT),
with its operations expanded from a single city of
Beijing to 15 cities nationwide. What has changed
is our scale, but what remains unchanged is our
original intention of “making our fellow countrymen
smile with greater confidence”. On the morning
of the day when the new clinic in Wuxi opened, |
encountered a customer in the hallway who brought
her grandson for dental care. She pointed to the
sign of “Arrail’s care” on the wall and remarked, ‘I
used to visit Arrail for dental care when | lived at my
daughter’s house in Beijing, and now we have it in
our hometown!” This simple recognition makes us
more determined than any data. Moving forward, we
will still treat our patients as family members as we
did in the very beginning, transform challenge into
opportunity, and advance resolutely and confidently
alongside each of the Shareholders and every
member of the Arrail team in the ever-evolving
landscape of our times.

Arrail Group Limited
Mr. ZOU Qifang
Chairman

Beijing, PRC, June 27, 2025
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Financial and Business Highlights

MBEREBRE

Sustainable Profit Growth, Accelerated Al Transformation Redefining the
Standard in Dental Healthcare Services
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Financial and Business Highlights
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Our revenues decreased by 3.3% from RMB1,745.8 million for
the year ended March 31, 2024, to RMB1,688.4 million for the
year ended March 31, 2025, primarily due to the impact of the
overall economic environment, which has led to a decrease in the
treatment prices.

Our operating profit increased by 39.4% from RMB26.0 million for
the year ended March 31, 2024, to RMB36.2 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025, primarily because our measures to reduce
costs and increase efficiency have been effectively implemented.

Our profit for the year increased by 20.5% from RMB13.4 million
for the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB16.2 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025.

Underpinned by our industrial experience and sufficient cash
position, we continued to expand our business scale. During the
Reporting Period, we opened one dental hospital in Wuxi with
a total of 41 dental chairs. Our total dental chairs of the Group
reached 1,566 as of March 31, 2025. Our patient visits for the
year ended March 31, 2025 reached 1,970,394, increasing by
0.3% compared with the same period last year. We believe these
movements will strengthen our leadership as a national chain in
China’s dental market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

We are a leading dental services provider in the premium private
dental service market in China. Founded in 1999, we have served
approximately 12.3 million patient visits in the past ten years, and
have been instrumental in raising public awareness and driving
consumer recognition of the importance of dental care and good
oral hygiene in China. Our network of dental clinics and hospitals
provides a wide array of dental healthcare services across China.
We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our “Arrail Dental” and
“Rytime Dental” brands to serve customers of different economic
and geographic backgrounds. Through decades of commitment
and service in the dental healthcare industry, we have earned
the trust of our patients, and have successfully established an
extensive presence in China, as we are continuing to expand our
footprint nationwide. As of March 31, 2025, we had a total of 118
stores, including 107 dental clinics and 11 hospitals in 15 cities
across China, with 999 experienced dentists. Our mission is to
give each of our patients a healthy and confident smile, and our
vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We expanded our business by opening more clinics and hospitals
in Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities across China. During the Reporting
Period, we opened one dental hospital with 41 dental chairs in
Wuxi. We continue to hire competent dentists and enhance our
dental professional team. The number of our full-time dentists
increased by 27 from 972 as of March 31, 2024 to 999 as of
March 31, 2025.
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Our Services

Our clinics and hospitals offer a diverse range of professional and
customized dental services, consisting of (i) general dentistry; (ii)
orthodontics; and (iii) implantology.

General Dentistry

General dentistry largely refers to the preventive services that all
patients should receive on a regular basis, such as tooth cleaning,
checking soft tissue, and screening for oral diseases and other
potential problems, along with a range of basic restorative
treatments, including fillings, crowns, bridges, dentures and more.
Our general dentistry services include oral examination, treatment
planning, preventive and cosmetic dentistry, endodontics, oral
surgery, periodontal treatment, prosthodontics, pedodontics
services and patient education.

Orthodontics

Orthodontics is a branch of dentistry that treats malocclusions,
a condition in which the teeth are not correctly positioned when
the mouth is closed, which may be caused by dental irregularity
and disproportionate jaw relationships, among others. Our
orthodontists provide orthodontic treatment using a range of
medical dental devices, including fixed and/or removable braces,
headgear, aligners and other appliances.

Implantology

Oral implantology is the branch of dentistry that deals with the
permanent implantation of artificial teeth in the jaw when it is
determined that a natural tooth must be extracted. With their high
level of expertise, our implant dentists are able to treat complex
cases and provide customized solutions based on the health of
the jawbone and the specific needs of a patient.
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Dual-Brand Operations

As of March 31, 2025, we operated a total of 118 clinics and
hospitals under the brand names of “Arrail Dental” and “Rytime
Dental”, to provide dental services to different demographics
across geographic regions.

Arrail Dental

ARRAILImim

Fabulous Smile . Confident You

We have been operating under the Arrail Dental brand since 1999,
to provide premium dental services primarily to affluent consumers
in Tier-1 and emerging Tier-1 cities in China. Arrail clinics are
able to charge premium pricing based on their excellent quality
of bespoke services and professionals. As of March 31, 2025, we
operated a total of 48 Arrail clinics in seven cities in China, namely
Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Tianjin and
Xiamen. Our Arrail clinics are mainly concentrated in metropolitan
areas and located at or in close proximity to prominent landmarks
and properties. We plan to further penetrate existing markets to
drive stronger monetization under the Arrail Dental brand.

Rytime Dental

bmZr_IHT BERTAL

We launched our operations under the Rytime Dental brand in
2012, primarily aiming to provide treatments to middle class
customers in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities in the Northern, Eastern,
Southern and Western parts of China. Rytime Dental is positioned
to capture the greater middle-end dental services market by
offering high-quality dental services at attractive and relatively
lower prices. As of March 31, 2025, we operated a total of 70
stores, including 11 hospitals and 59 Rytime clinics in 11 cities
in China. We are able to provide a greater variety of treatments
at our dental hospitals, such as giving general anesthesia and
performing more complicated oral surgery procedures. Our Rytime
Dental hospitals and clinics are typically located in the vicinity of
residential areas, giving our customers easy access to convenient
and quality dental care services. We plan to continue to expand
our Rytime Dental network by broadening our reach to targeted
regions and cities across China.
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Our Hospitals and Clinics

As of March 31, 2025, we operated a total of 118 stores, including
(i) 107 clinics, of which 48 clinics were under the Arrail Dental
brand and 59 clinics were under the Rytime Dental brand; and (ii)
11 hospitals under the Rytime Dental brand, as illustrated in the
map below.

Provinces uncovered

m Provinces covered
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Our total patient visits increased by 0.3% from 1,965,468 for
the year ended March 31, 2024 to 1,970,394 for the year ended
March 31, 2025. The following table sets forth the breakdown by

B W DA

RPN EEZL ANBEEEC024F3A31BIEFER
1,965,468 AJRIENN0.3% EE E 202563 A31H 1
FEM1,970,394 )X o TREFIZREESHNER

brands in relation to our operating and financial performance. 1l MBS RIGPAM o
For the year ended March 31,
BZEZSHASIBLEE
2025 2024
2025F 20244
Total patient visits (times) BED AR 1,970,394 1,965,468
Arrail Dental IR 516,868 531,894
Rytime Dental ol 1,453,526 1,433,574
Total number of dental chairs FRIGHEE 1,566 1,569
Arrail Dental iy B e e 505 505
Rytime Dental ool 1,061 1,064
Visits per dental chair BRIBVBHIRDRE 1,258 1,253
Arrail Dental InRert 1,024 1,053
Rytime Dental Iz M 1,370 1,347
Revenue per dental chair (RMB in thousands) #SRIRBHWA(ARETT) 1,078 1,112
Arrail Dental iy B e e 1,456 1,554
Rytime Dental WROE 898 903
Total patient visits Visits per dental chair
BIEZ AR BRTRHFHIRES R E
Arrail Dental |saenenemema 531,894 Brand/fa k& %
HHED | i 516,868 Arrail Dental m v 2.8%
IR
Rytime Dental | s s o sh oa s sh e cn s e sn s em . 1,433,574 Rvi
" " ytime Dental 1,347
HEOE QALAALAALLRLSRS 1453526 WO R A 1T

%2024 22025

Total number of dental chairs
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Rytime Dental | Madm MmNt anananas 1,064
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Note: for the year ended March 31
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Revenue per dental chair (RMB in thousand)
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Our repeat visit rates, defined as the percentage of patients
that revisited our clinics or hospitals beyond six months after
their initial visits, excluding follow-up consultations of the same
treatment, were 47.8% for the year ended March 31, 2025 (47.9%
for the year ended March 31, 2024). Approximately 20.6% of our
new patients were referred by our existing patients for the year
ended March 31, 2025.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures during the
Reporting Period

The Company had no significant investments (including any
investment constituting 5% or above of the total assets of the
Group as of March 31, 2025), material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting
Period.

Events after the Reporting Period

On June 27, 2025, the Company (as the Lender) and Beier
Holdings Limited (as the Borrower) entered into a third amendment
agreement (the “Third Amendment Agreement’) to the Loan
Agreement (as amended), pursuant to which the Lender and the
Borrower conditionally agreed that, among others, the principal
amount of the loan shall be reduced from US$11 million to US$7.5
million as a result of repayment made in cash by the Borrower,
and the term of the Loan shall be further extended from 30
months to 42 months commencing from the September 30, 2022.
On the same date, to cover the liabilities and obligations of the
Borrower under the Loan Agreement (as amended), the original
share pledge comprising 9,920,675 Shares held by the Borrower,
4,916,475 Shares held by Mr. Zou, and 8,500,000 Shares held
by Mingda International Limited (“Mingda”) was extended, and
10,000,000 Shares held by Mingda and 18,000,000 Shares held
by Rise Day Holdings Limited, were further pledged in favour of
the Company as security for the amendments contained in the
Third Amendment Agreement. The total pledged Shares represent
approximately 9.1% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Save for the above,
all the material terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement
remain unchanged and in force and effect. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated September
29, 2022, June 27, 2023, June 26, 2024, November 29, 2024 and
June 27, 2025.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, the Company
is not aware of any material subsequent events from the end
of the Reporting Period to the date of this annual report, which
require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.
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Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds raised from the
Global Offering for business expansion, optimization of our IT
infrastructure and working capital in the manner set out in the
Prospectus and the section headed “Use of Proceeds from the
Global Offering” below. Save as these, the Group does not have
any concrete committed plans for material investments and capital
assets.

Employees and Remuneration

As of March 31, 2025, we had a total of 3,111 full-time employees,
all of whom were based in various cities in China. Our employees
reflect the geographic footprint we currently serve. The following
table sets forth our employees by functions as of March 31, 2025:

B W DA
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% of total

Number of number of

Function Employees employees
hHEEEH

BiEE EEA" HED L
Dentists T 999 32.1%
Nursing staff EIEAB 1,048 33.7%
Customer service staff ERAE 575 18.5%
General administrative staff —RITHAE 273 8.8%
Marketing team & S B X 216 6.9%
Total et 3,111 100%

Employees by Functions

RS2 ES

® ®

Dentists Nursing staff Customer service
staff

TE EEAS ERAS

999 1,048 5145

32.1% 33.7% 18.5%

General Marketing team
administrative staff
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273 216

8.8% 6.9%
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We offer our employees different remuneration packages
based on their positions. Generally, the remuneration structure
of our employees includes salary, benefits and bonuses. Our
compensation programs are designed to remunerate our
employees based on their performance, measured against
specified objective criteria. We maintain standard employee
benefit plans required by PRC laws and regulations, including
housing fund contributions, pension insurance, medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance, and
maternity insurance.

As of March 31, 2025, over 45.3% of our full-time dentists had
master’'s degrees or above, and many held titles and qualifications
such as chief medical director or medical discipline leader. Our
team of dentists have on average 11.5 years of post-qualification
experience in the industry. Dentists with more than five, ten and
fifteen years of experience with us accounted for 44.3%, 16.7%
and 6.4% of our total dentists, which indicates strong employee
retention rates.

BT BEARQTNEEE

EARD B TERBSF

EARQB TEBBI10F

We have also adopted the RSU Scheme with an overall limit of
119,972,600 underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU
Scheme, representing approximately 21.3% of the total issued
share capital of the Company (excluding the treasury shares, if
any) as of March 31, 2025, for the participants under the RSU
Scheme. As of March 31, 2025, an aggregate of 747 employees
were approved by the Board to be the grantees with a total of
103,838,101 underlying shares pursuant to the RSU Scheme. We
further adopted the 2022 RSU Scheme on September 3, 2022,
pursuant to which the underlying Shares will be satisfied by
the existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee on the market
based on the trading price of the market. As of March 31, 2025,
no employees were approved by the Board to be the grantees
pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme.
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Employee Retention Rates of our dentists of the Company

Serviced at the Company for over 5 years

Serviced at the Company for over 10 years
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor
did it experience any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
staff.

Industry Outlook

The development of the dental services market in China is mainly
driven by multiple factors such as the level of socio-economic
development, the trend of an ageing population, the popularity of
digitalization, and the rising public awareness of dental health.
According to the Frost & Sullivan Report, the market size of dental
services in China is expected to reach RMB150 billion in 2024
and grow steadily at a compound annual growth rate of 7.5%
from 2024 to 2028, with the market size expected to reach nearly
RMB200 billion by 2028.

At present, despite being impacted by changes in the domestic
macroeconomic environment, the dental industry is undergoing
short-term adjustment and optimization while maintaining solid
long-term development potential. From a global perspective,
the penetration rate of the dental services market in China is
still significantly lower than that of mature markets, showing a
huge room for future growth. The number of dentists per million
population in China is only about 175, far lower than 610 in
the United States, 860 in Germany and 810 in Japan, and the
annual per capita expenditure on dental care in China is about
US$44, only one-tenth to one-fifth of that of the mature markets
as compared to US$405 in the United States, US$372 in Germany
and US$228 in Japan. In the field of oral implantology, the annual
number of dental implants per 10,000 population in China is about
28, far lower than that of about 100 in the United States and about
150 in Germany, showing a huge room for improvement. These
indicators clearly demonstrate the huge potential of the domestic
dental market and also enhance our confidence in the future
development of the market.

We are full of confidence in the future development of the
Company. In the field of private chain dental care, high barriers
to market entry have been built up by dentists and medical
management, chain operation capabilities, brand influence,
medical qualifications and licenses, data resources accumulation,
and supply chain management, which has created stable
competitive advantages for the long-term development of
market-leading companies. In terms of policy environment, the
national and local governments are continuously introducing
and implementing policies and measures to encourage the
standardized, healthy and sustainable development of private
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medical institutions, so as to create a more positive external
environment for the industry. As one of the largest and most
market-leading premium dental chain groups in China, the
Company has established a nationwide presence across four
core regions, with strategic penetration into 15 Tier-1 and Tier-
2 cities. With the longstanding core competitive strengths of
“Talent, Brand, System”, the Company will continue to benefit
from the industry’s standardization and high-quality development
trends and actively capitalize on the significant opportunities in
the field of dental services to achieve robust and sustainable
development, thereby further consolidating and enhancing our
market leadership.

Future Development Directions/Strategies:

We will focus on the following core directions to drive the
Company to achieve high-quality and steady growth.

1) Starting a new journey of intelligent dental healthcare with
Al strategy empowerment

Relying on the repository of tens of millions of high-
quality dental cases, the multi-format operational expertise
covering clinics to hospitals, the clinical decision trees
refined from thousands of internal multi-disciplinary
complex case discussions, and the outputs of operation
management experience, we will accelerate the gradual
release of our first-mover advantage in the field of Al
Based on the analysis of Al scenario value matrix and
driven by the dual engines of Al dentist assistant and
Al operation assistant, the Company will deploy Al
applications in multiple scenarios such as imaging-
assisted diagnosis, automated clinical documentation,
quality control evaluation, intelligent patient follow-up, and
intelligent customer service. The Al-driven new ecosystem
of dental healthcare not only reshapes the clinical and
service workflows to promote a revolution in efficiency,
but also drives the algorithmic transformation of word-
of-mouth communication, further enhancing customer
satisfaction and loyalty. At the infrastructure level, adhering
to the philosophy of “Treating Data Kindly”, we will
establish an end-to-end quality control system from data
collection, cleansing to labelling. At the organizational
level, we will cultivate inter-disciplinary talents through
Al Spark interest groups (AIZ X E##/]\4) and establish
Al Help Desk to respond to the front-line needs in real
time, forming a closed-loop innovation mechanism of
“technology empowerment — scenario verification — value
accumulation”.
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Creating quality benchmarks under the leadership of experts
and forging medical exemplars with multi-dimensional drivers

With experts as the core driving force, we will continue
to launch high-quality expert workshops to deepen high-
quality development. We will strictly implement the medical
quality control system, relying on the error prevention
and correction system, quality coefficient evaluation and
red line system to fortify medical safety defense and
eliminate illegal operations. For initial diagnosis cases,
we will establish a comprehensive screening mechanism
for missed diagnosis to eliminate any potential oral health
risks. For complex cases, we will organize multi-disciplinary
expert consultations to formulate precise treatment plans.
The Company will give full play to the coordinating role
of the eight established specialist committees to improve
the specialty development and training system, and
improve the overall medical standard through curriculum
development and academic guidance. At the same time,
we also actively carry out various competitions such as
complex case competitions, first aid competitions and
specialty summits to implement the concept of “promoting
learning through competition, driving practice through
learning, and achieving excellence through practice” (A&
fRE2 ~ DAERLT « ATTIERN), to stimulate the enthusiasm of
medical staff for continuous learning, and to promote the
quality of the Group’s medical services to a new level.
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3)

By improving operational efficiency and upgrading intelligent
services, we are enhancing the full-cycle healthcare journey
and delivering a better customer experience

We will significantly improve the efficiency of the full-
cycle oral health care system for our customers through
digitalized tools. In particular, we will employ SCRM tools
to stringently implement the standards in order to maintain
SOP. Out of our resource library, we will send to our
customers the educational materials regarding oral health
that are richly illustrated and easy-to-understand, as well
as detailed pre-operative reminders and post-operative
precautions, to strengthen the daily connection with our
customers. For our customers who make the first visit, we
will provide a perfect oral health report, stating professional
and comprehensive health assessment. We will thoroughly
sort out our customer pool by leveraging Al follow-up tools,
and customize follow-up care based on customer profiles
to enhance customer stickiness. Furthermore, we will build
a cross-brand membership system and upgrade our client
mini-program to simplify consultation, appointment and
payment processes, improve communication efficiency and
optimize service experience, enabling our customers to
enjoy convenient, efficient and considerate dental services.
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Through innovative mechanisms, we are unlocking new
momentum and building a shared platform for sustainable
business growth

We will actively implement and deepen financial and virtual
partnership mechanisms to inject a strong impetus into
the quality development of the Group, while improving
our clinics’ performance, decreasing operation costs
and stabilizing the core dentist teams. Anchored in high
standards and strict requirements, our partners will be
rigorously selected from quality talents with excellent
medical skills and highly compatible values to be included
in our partner system, ensuring each partner will be
aligned with the strategies of the Group. On the basis of
the impetus of mutual development, the partners will be
granted both full power of operational decision-making
and enlarged proportion of shareholding or interest
distribution, so as to make the interest community strongly
connected and transform the partners from “employees” to
“stakeholders”, fully motivating themselves and stimulate
their creativity. We will initiate pilot programs in key cities
to accumulate mature experience before promoting it
nationwide. In addition to continuously providing partners
technology, and operational support,
specialized training programs such as entrepreneurship
camp for out-patient partners will be implemented to
chart the course for career development of chief dentists
and core dentists, with a view to creating a virtuous
environment where the partners and the Group mutually
achieve success and develop synergistically. For this
purpose, the selection of dentists from campus recruitment
will also focus on their potential as future partners, so that
the talent training will be integrated with partner reserves,
achieving the mutual empowerment of talent pipeline
building and career development.

with resources,
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With strong brand appeal and an empowering support
system, we are attracting top talent and moving forward
together on our growth journey

Leveraging our strong industry brand heritage and
reputation, we will transform the brand influence into
a core driver for talent “recruitment, training, and
retention.” Grounded in the philosophy of “empowerment
and support,” we have built a comprehensive talent
development system, upholding the strategic belief that
“talent is the core element for cycle-spanning,” and
providing employees with a vast platform to realize their
career aspirations. In medical talent development, we
continue our strategic tradition of campus recruitment.
Currently, campus hires account for nearly 20% of our
dentists team, with over 30% already promoted to various
management roles, forming the backbone of clinical
operations. Simultaneously, we have intensified efforts
to recruit discipline leaders, leveraging top-tier talent to
drive technological innovation and solidify our industry-
leading clinical capabilities. For operational management
talent development, we focus on building a pipeline for
core management positions, meticulously selecting high-
potential individuals with strong self-motivation and high
learning potential to inject innovative vitality into the
organizational structure. In talent cultivation, we accelerate
professional skill advancement by conducting over 50
online and offline medical training sessions annually.
Through management empowerment programs such as the
Dean’s Workshop, Evergreen Class, and Values Seminar,
we enhance strategic thinking and managerial capabilities
of the team. Additionally, we have refined a function-
specific “virtue and competence” digital evaluation system,
quantifying talent growth trajectories with data to achieve
scientific and precise talent assessment. Furthermore,
we implement the “people development partner plan” for
critical roles, conducting regular in-depth communication
to ensure precise alignment between talent needs and
organizational development.
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Culture as the soul to unite team strength, aligning knowledge
and action to chart a new chapter

Cultural development has always been the key to uniting
our team. We will continue to promote our core values of
“integrity, professionalism, and being a good person” and
integrate them into daily work scenarios, translating them
into behavioral guidelines: “trying to solve problems instead
of making excuses, acting properly with courageous
commitment, seeking win-win cooperation with open
communication, pursuing progress with unremitting efforts,
focusing more on practical operation instead of theoretical
knowledge, and taking the lead to offer more help and less
preaching at others”. We will fully leverage the exemplary
role of the first batch of 12 certified culture ambassadors
to deepen employees’ understanding and identification
with corporate culture through diverse activities including
speeches, seminars and essay contests. Using our internal
publication “Arrail Team” as a cultural platform, we promote
the Group’s benchmark cases and stories of honored
individuals to foster an atmosphere of organization-wide
learning and collective progress. Under the influence of
“collective culture”, we will facilitate consensus on values
among employees, enhance their sense of security and
belonging, and shape a professional team with aligned
words and actions and unified goals, providing solid talent
support for the organization’s long-term development.
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7)

Risk management as foundation for sustainable growth,
multi-dimensional coordination for sustainable development

We will build a comprehensive risk management system to
solidify the foundation for stable operations and sustainable
development. In terms of medical quality control, we will
deepen the optimization of standard processes, leverage
Al-assisted diagnosis and quality inspection systems,
multidisciplinary consultation platforms, and others to
establish risk early-warning models, controlling medical
risks at industry-leading levels and ensuring diagnostic and
treatment safety. For supply chain management, we will
create an intelligent supply network, utilizing big data to
achieve dynamic inventory balance. In term of the financial
management front, we will build a leading control system,
employing refined budgeting, dynamic cost monitoring,
and risk assessment models to safeguard financial health,
while enhancing risk resilience through diversified financing
and prudent investments. In ESG initiatives, we will
optimize governance structures and improve information
transparency; carry out public welfare projects such as oral
health education and medical assistance for orphaned and
disabled children to fulfill social responsibilities; promote
green operations to achieve a win-win scenario for both
economic benefits and social value, thereby creating more
long-term value for the shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we primarily generated revenues
from operating dental clinics and hospitals across the PRC. Our
revenues decreased by 3.3% from RMB1,745.8 million for the
year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB1,688.4 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025. This was primarily due to the impact of the
overall economic environment, which has led to a decrease in the
treatment prices.

Revenues by Dental Service Offerings

We offer a diverse range of professional and customized dental
services, covering mainly three dental sectors (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. The following
table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues by types of dental
services, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our
total revenues, for the periods indicated.
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STAILFENARY1,745. 8B TR 33%EE
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For the year ended March 31,

BZE3H31ALEFE

2025 2024

2025%F 20244
RMB % RMB %
ARY % AREE %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(AREETIT - BHLERIN)
General dentistry ~ Ei@afl 922,607 54.6% 968,150 55.5%
Orthodontics naEs 367,806 21.8% 382,457 21.9%
Implantology EER 309,911 18.4% 357,963 20.5%
Others® Hho 88,067 5.2% 37,212 2.1%
Total et 1,688,391 100.0% 1,745,782 100.0%
Note: K1zt -

(1) Primarily include revenues generated from sale of dental (1) FTEORENE=ZF2MERTRARSHEHE

materials and equipment sold to third-party clinics and
dental supply distributors and the operation of our denture
manufacturing plants.

BRI R RERBAREE R E R EREE LR
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Revenues by Dental Service Offerings
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Orthodontics
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e Others
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Note: for the year ended March 31
Miit - BZE3IASNBLFE

Revenues generated from (i) general dentistry decreased by
4.7% from RMB968.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2024
to RMB922.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2025; (ii)
orthodontics decreased by 3.8% from RMB382.5 million for the
year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB367.8 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025; and (iii) implantology decreased by 13.4%
from RMB358.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 to
RMB309.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Revenues by Brand

We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our Arrail Dental and
Rytime Dental brands to provide differentiated dental services to
different target markets. As of March 31, 2025, we operated a total
of 118 stores, including 48 dental clinics in Tier-1 cities under the
Arrail Dental brand, and 59 dental clinics and 11 dental hospitals
primarily in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities under the Rytime Dental
brand. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues
by brands, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our
total revenues, for the periods indicated.

General Dentistry

B EBEFREENWRABREZ2024F3A31H
LEFEMARMIS2EE LA 4.7%EHE2025
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382 5HEBILBL3.8%EHE2025F3A31HIEF
EMARKI67.8BE T « M(ii)EERIELEMHBA
HEZE2024F3A31ALEFEMARKISB0EE
LB A 13.4% 2 E2025F3A31HIEFEMAR
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For the year ended March 31,

BE3A3IALEE

2025 2024

2025 20244
RMB % RMB %
N % AR %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AREETFIT - BALLERIN

Arrail Dental IR 735,343 43.6% 784,792 45.0%
Rytime Dental Inr Oz 953,048 56.4% 960,990 55.0%
Total st 1,688,391 100.0% 1,745,782 100.0%
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Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales primarily consists of (i) employee benefits
expenses; (ii) depreciation and amortization; and (iii) dental
materials used/sold. Employee benefits expenses primarily consist
of salaries, benefits and bonuses, including social security costs
and housing benefits. Depreciation and amortization expenses
primarily consist of depreciation of our medical equipment, office
equipment and furniture, leasehold improvements, and right-
of-use assets, representing the leases of dental clinics and
hospitals. Dental materials used/sold primarily consist of purchase
costs of raw materials and consumables mainly comprising
customized dentures, dental braces, implant and dental crowns
for implantology, orthodontics and restorations.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of sales
by nature, both in absolute amounts and as a percentage of total
cost of sales, for the periods indicated.

BERENmED I

HERA

BAHERAEZRE()VEEBEANFAX : (N8
K R (i)FAFEERIM K - EERBAIMX
ITEBEFD  BARTEL  BRESREKRRR
EEREAM - FERBHFAXTIEBERERME M
AREEEE  HEVEEEREAREE (DED
PIkBRMEE) NITE - FRA S ERIMEE
ZEREEMHEREN (Z2RREEER - EREEE
ERMRIRES  TE - BFETE) ORBERA -

TREHRMIRFRABREE S D0 HEKAR
A BB MERPIBEERANBEDLIR

For the year ended March 31,
HE3ASIBLEE

2025 2024
2025%F 2024
RMB % RMB %
ARYE % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AREETFIT - BHLLBRIN
Employee benefits expenses EERFFAXZ 709,913 52.7% 724,642 53.6%
Depreciation and amortization — #7& 2 # 223,907 16.6% 231,786 17.1%
Dental materials used/sold ETR . BRI 302,298 22.5% 264,763 19.6%
Consulting fees BSR4 9,409 0.7% 25,010 1.8%
Office and property management 3 2 & ¥ % & 18 ki 2 56,215 4.2% 60,975 4.5%
expenses
Others™ H o 44,559 3.3% 45,930 3.4%
Total “et 1,346,301 100.0% 1,353,106 100.0%
Note: Htat -
(1) Primarily include rental expenses, travelling expenses, training (1) FTEREHESAY  ZIRAX - HBIlFAZ kK
expenses and utility expenses. BE -

Our cost of sales decreased by 0.5% from RMB1,353.1 million for
the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB1,346.3 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025, primarily due to our control over employee
benefits expenses and consulting fees, which are offset by the
increase of dental materials used/sold.
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Gross Profit

Our gross profit decreased by 12.9% from RMB392.7 million for
the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB342.1 million for the year
ended March 31, 2025, primarily due to the decrease of dental
service revenue, as well as the fact that gross margin of dental
material selling business we developed during the Reporting
Period was lower than that of dental services.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our sales and marketing staff;
(i) advertising and marketing expenses; and (iii) consulting
fees. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our selling
and distribution expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage of total selling and distribution expenses, for the
periods indicated.

E7

BN EFNBEZ2024F3A31BIEFENARE
392.7EETLRAD12.9%EHE2025%3H31H 1t
FEMAREIIAEET  E2RHATRIRBK
ABLURBRFPRBEHANFAREERM I EEER
MEFRERFRIRIENEFE -

HERGHEMX
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For the year ended March 31,
BZE3A3IBLEE

2025 2024
2025 20244
RMB % RMB %
ARM % AR %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(AR®TFT - BHLLKRIN

Employee benefits expenses BEE®RFIFX 60,771 48.6% 67,870 48.2%
Advertising and marketing expenses EE R EHAS 58,105 46.4% 61,832 43.9%
Consulting fees BB 3,141 2.5% 7,386 5.2%
Others® HAb® 3,078 2.5% 3,674 2.7%
Total s 125,095 100.0% 140,762 100.0%
Note: Miet -

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and (1) TEER/ERMAS - HIIFX BB -

recruitment expenses.

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased by 11.2% from
RMB140.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB125.1
million for the year ended March 31, 2025, primarily because we
controlled the budget of marketing activities.

BMREE REHEATHEE2024F3A31 B IEF
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) employee
benefits expenses for our directors, senior management and
other administrative staff; (ii) depreciation and amortization; (iii)
consulting fees; (iv) share-based compensation expenses; (v)
office and property management expenses; and (vi) auditor’s
remuneration. The following table sets forth a breakdown of
our administrative expenses, both in absolute amounts and as
a percentage of total administrative expenses, for the periods
indicated.

BERENmED I

TR

BHANTBRAXETEREES  SREBERE
AT A BRBERAMFIST ¢ (i R #H : (ii)&
AE (VBRODMESRAX : WIRARYMEEERHX
Ko (vi)yEFHERE B - TREFIBR IR PR AR AT
B RA  ABE B R METHAAEa N
IR -

For the year ended March 31,
BE3ASMBLEE

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(ARMFIT - BOLLBRIN
Employee benefits expenses EERAMMAX 88,882 50.9% 98,273 40.5%
Depreciation and amortization e s 22,152 12.7% 24,698 10.2%
Consulting fees BB 22,324 12.8% 27,346 11.3%
Share-based compensation A% 10 Bl & B 2 12,923 7.4% 65,599 27.0%
expenses
Office and property management WMARMEERRAX 5,480 3.1% 6,727 2.8%
expenses
Auditor’'s remuneration 2 oA 37 B 4,287 2.5% 4,000 1.6%
Otherst Ho 18,444 10.6% 16,152 6.6%
Total et 174,492 100.0% 242,795 100.0%
Note: BiaE -
(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and (1) TEBRERMAX  HIIFAXRBERX -

recruitment expenses.

Our administrative expenses decreased by 28.1% from RMB242.8
million for the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB174.5 million
for the year ended March 31, 2025, primarily due to decrease
in share-based compensation expenses for the RSUs, majority
of which had been already vested before the beginning of the
Reporting Period.

HFWITHRASY AEE2024F3831BIEFEHA
Ri#k242 SEETLH 28 1% EEHE 202543 A31
HLEFEMARKE174588L  TE2HMRAHS
ZRRFIEM BN REHFARIICERE - ALE
BRI BB SIR D
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Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our research and development
staff; (ii) consulting fees; and (iii) depreciation and amortization.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our research and
development expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage of total research and development expenses, for the
periods indicated.

WEMAX

HPIHEFE X T2 0E0)HEABNEE R
S (iFEE  R(i)TEREE - TREIIHRMARN
PR EAR eV 3 B ST AR A - AR EI © R R (L 22 B
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For the year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2025 2024
2025F 20244

RMB % RMB %

ARY % AR %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(ARBETT  ADHEKRIN

Employee benefits expenses EERMAX 3,479 40.2% 3,182 38.6%
Consulting fees BB 4,318 49.9% 3,055 37.1%
Depreciation and amortization TE R 828 9.6% 1,848 22.4%
Others Efbo 28 0.3% 158 1.9%
Total st 8,653 100.0% 8,243 100.0%
Note: Htat -

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, property management
expenses and utility expenses.

Our research and development expenses increased by 5.0% from
RMB8.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB8.7
million for the year ended March 31, 2025, primarily because
of the increase of investment on self-developed information
technology application.

(1 TERRERMAX  MEEERIKEER
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Net reversal/(provision) of impairment loss

Net reversal/(provision) of impairment loss refers to impairment
charges recorded based on the difference between the cash flows
contractually due and all the cash flows that we expect to receive
from trade and other receivables. Net reversal of impairment
loss on financial assets was RMBO0.7 million for the year ended
March 31, 2025, compared to net provision of impairment loss on
financial assets of RMBO0.6 million for the year ended March 31,
2024, primarily due to the collection of loans to employees.

Operating Profit

For the year ended March 31, 2025, our operating profit was
RMB36.2 million, compared to an operating profit of RMB26.0
million for the year ended March 31, 2024, mainly due to the
decrease in selling and distribution expenses and administrative
expenses.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs increased from RMB8.1 million for the year
ended March 31, 2024 to RMB11.0 million for the year ended
March 31, 2025, primarily due to the decrease of interest of bank
deposit.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year increased from
RMB13.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 to RMB16.2
million for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consist of (i)
medical equipment; (ii) office equipment and furniture; (iii) motor
vehicles; and (iv) leasehold improvements. Our property, plant
and equipment decreased from RMB320.1 million as of March 31,
2024 to RMB285.4 million as of March 31, 2025 primarily due to
the depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent leases of dental clinics,
hospitals, and office space in accordance with IFRS 16. Our right-
of-use assets decreased from RMB670.5 million as of March 31,
2024 to RMB560.9 million as of March 31, 2025, primarily due to
the depreciation of right-of-use assets.
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Net Current Assets

We had net current assets of RMB842.1 million as of March 31,
2025, compared to net current assets of RMB877.7 million as of
March 31, 2024, primarily because of decrease in cash and cash
equivalents.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are primarily amounts due from customers
for dental materials sold and dental services performed in the
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are classified as
current assets if they are expected to be collected in one year or
less. We typically charge our individual patients upon rendering
our services. In addition, for our corporate clients, we usually
grant them a credit period ranging from 10 to 60 days.

Our trade receivables increased by 4.3% from RMB88.6 million as
of March 31, 2024 to RMB92.4 million as of March 31, 2025. Our
trade receivables turnover days were 21 days for the year ended
March 31, 2024, and 22 days for the year ended March 31, 2025.
The increase in turnover days was mainly due to the increase of
account receivables from insurance companies.

Other Receivables

Our other receivables primarily consist of (i) loans to related
parties; (ii) receivable from RSU management agency and deposit
in a security broker for share repurchase; and (iii) loans to
employees, net of loss allowance. Our other receivables included
in current assets decreased by 8.6% from RMB184.5 million as
of March 31, 2024 to RMB168.7 million as of March 31, 2025,
primarily due to the collection of loans to employees.

Trade Payables

Our trade payables primarily represent the amount due to our
suppliers. Our suppliers typically granted us a credit period of 90
days.

Our trade payables decreased by 12.6% from RMB98.8 million as
of March 31, 2024 to RMB86.4 million as of March 31, 2025. Our
trade payables turnover days decreased from 54 days for the year
ended March 31, 2024 to 53 days for the year ended March 31,
2025 accordingly, primarily due to the acceleration of payment
process.
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Other Payables

Our other payables primarily consist of (i) employee benefits
payable; (ii) payables due to related parties and shareholders;
and (iii) taxes payables. Our other payables decreased by 4.1%
from RMB89.3 million as of March 31, 2024 to RMB85.6 million
as of March 31, 2025, primarily due to the decrease in employee
benefits payable.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Our financial assets at fair value through profit or loss primarily
represent our investments in wealth management products with
an aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB536.4 million
financial products, unlisted debt instruments of RMB35.7 million
and unlisted equity instruments of RMB27.2 million. The unlisted
debt instruments represent 8.22% interest in Hangzhou Jarvis.
The unlisted equity instruments represent 20.0% equity interest in
Hangzhou Jinyaori.

The financial products increased by RMB195.6 million from
RMB340.8 million as of March 31, 2024 to RMB536.4 million as of
March 31, 2025, primarily due to we invested more in structured
deposits, money market funds, treasury fund and US treasury
bonds to achieve higher yield.

Prepayments

Our prepayments primarily consist of (i) prepayments for braces;
(ii) incremental cost of obtaining contracts, representing the
commissions to dentists; (iii) prepayments for inventories other
than braces; (iv) prepayments for equipment; and (v) short-term
lease prepayments. Our prepayments increased by 13.2% from
RMB149.2 million as of March 31, 2024 to RMB168.9 million as of
March 31, 2025, primarily due to the increase of prepayments for
inventories other than braces and short-term lease prepayments.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Since we operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi, our management considers that our business
is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk as there
are no significant assets or liabilities which are denominated in
the currencies other than our functional currency. During the
Reporting Period, our currency translation differences mainly arise
from the translation of the financial statements of some of our
entities from the functional currency in United States dollars to the
reporting currency in Renminbi.
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The Directors would from time to time review the analysis
prepared by our account department and assess whether there is
any material and adverse impact on our financial performance and
whether we should enter into any hedging or derivative financial
instruments to manage such foreign exchange risk exposures.

Contingent Liabilities

As of March 31, 2025, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities, guarantees, or legal, arbitration or administrative
proceedings pending or threatened against us that we expect
would materially adversely affect our financial position or results
of operations.

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure

During the Reporting Period, we financed our operations and
other capital expenditure requirements primarily through cash
generated from our operations and proceeds raised from the
Company’s series-E round of financing and the Listing. As of
March 31, 2025, we had cash and cash equivalents of RMB536.9
million, as compared with RMB656.3 million as of March 31, 2024.
The decrease of cash and cash equivalent is mainly due to the
payment of approximately HK$74.6 million for the repurchase
of Shares by the Company during the Reporting Period and the
increase in investments in structured deposits, money market
funds, treasury funds and US treasury bonds to achieve higher
yield, which were recorded in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

There is no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Reporting Period. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures represent purchase of property, equipment
and intangible assets. For the year ended March 31, 2025, we
incurred capital expenditures of RMB56.8 million, compared to
RMB110.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2024, primarily
due to implementation of cost optimization strategies, including
reductions in capital expenditures. We intend to fund our planned
capital expenditures through a combination of the net proceeds
from the Global Offering, bank facilities and other borrowings, as
well as cash generated from operations.
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Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

During the Reporting Period, we incurred borrowings which
were primarily denominated in Renminbi, to finance our capital
expenditure and working capital requirements. As of March 31,
2025, we had obtained undrawn bank loan facilities of RMB677.0
million.

As of March 31, 2025, the gearing ratio (calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%) is
24.8%.

Charge on Assets

As of March 31, 2025, we pledged US$26.4 million (equivalent
to RMB189.2 million) to banks as the collateral for bank loans of
RMB202.4 million.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZOU Qifang (H¥), aged 71, is our founder, chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer. He has been the Director
since May 2001 and was re-designated as an executive Director
in June 2021. Mr. Zou founded the Group in April 1999. He is
responsible for overall strategic planning and business direction
planning, supervising and management of the Group’s business.
Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Zou served as an associate in
Bankers Trust Company, a commercial bank providing wholesale
financial services, from July 1994 to April 1995. He served as a
management consultant in A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited (!
MIE(HE)EBMR2AA]), a global management consulting firm, from
June 1995 to September 1996. Mr. Zou served as a manager in
Tianjin Smith Kline & French Laboratories Ltd. (Fr3EK i 5 77 5 2
AR 7] from 1982 to August 1990.

Mr. Zou received a bachelor’'s degree in English from Tianjin
Foreign Studies University (KZEINBEFEKRZE) (formerly known
as Tianjin Foreign Studies College (KXZINBEFEEPT)) in Tianjin,
the PRC in July 1982. Mr. Zou received a master's degree in
business administration from the Wharton School of University
of Pennsylvania, in Pennsylvania, the US in May 1994. Mr. Zou
has been a member of the board of advisors of School of Dental
Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania since October 2010
and a member of the executive board for Asia of the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania from 2008 to 2018. Mr.
Zou is an advisor to the dean of School of Dental Medicine of
the Harvard University since 2019 and a director of the 2005
committee of WRSA Chamber of Commerce since 2005. Mr. Zou
has also been a member of CEO Organization since 2013 and
a Trustee of Center for Excellence in Education (CEE, a global
education foundation) since 2019. He received the Annual China
Entrepreneurship Award from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania in 2018.
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Mr. ZHANG Jincai (8 7), aged 62, is the executive Director
and chief medical officer of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing medical services of the Group and operations of our
dental hospitals and clinics. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in June
2019 and served as our executive president of medical affairs
from June 2019 to May 2020. He has served as the chief medical
officer of the Group and general manager of hospitals and clinics
since June 2020. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang served
as the chairman of the board of Zhejiang Tongce Dental Medical
Management Co., Ltd. (LK OEBERIEEAEEEEBRAF), a
subsidiary of TC Medical (3B & & % {» AP 72 7]) which was listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600763, from June
2015 to May 2019. He was a professor of oral medicine in the
West China Medical Center of Sichuan University (P0)!| K225 7588
20 (formerly known as the West China Medical University (£
THERIAE)) from January 1989 to May 2001.

Mr. Zhang obtained a physician’s practicing certificate from
the NHC in December 2001. He received a government special
allowance from the State Council of the PRC in March 1998.
He also received the 7th Chinese Physician Prize issued by the
Chinese Medical Doctor Association (B ERT#HE) in November
2010. He was the vice president of the 4th Council of the Chinese
Stomatological Association (FEOREESENEEEE) and the
chairman of the 4th Periodontology Professional Committee of the
Chinese Stomatological Association (F %0 e & £ 550 fE 7F &R
BEXZEE)

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in medicine from the
School of Medicine of the Zhejiang University (/T KE3E8E[7)
(formerly known as Zhejiang Medical University (1T 2RI AZ))
in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in August 1983. He obtained a
master's degree in medicine in December 1986 and a doctoral
degree in clinical medicine in June 1989 from the West China
Medical Center of Sichuan University (PO)IIAE2ZEFEEEHD L))
(formerly known as the West China Medical University (ZEFREFR]
KE)) in Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Zhang completed the
postdoctoral training from the School of Dentistry of the University
of California, San Francisco in California, the US in December
1992.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle (21%2#§), aged 57, is the independent
non-executive Director. She is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

From December 2003 to December 2010, she served as a
managing director at Beijing Lianban Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (It Bt EEEBPRAF) and responsible for
investment and financing activities. Since December 2010, Ms.
Liu has served as the chief financial officer in Hexun Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (MFEEREAER AR, which focuses on
internet services and responsible for the financial management
and strategic investment and financing of the company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’'s degree in finance from the
University of International Business and Economics (¥ 9M&E 5 &
KE) (formerly known as the China Institute of Finance (FFE& &
Efr)) in July 1991. She further received her master of business
administration degree (MBA) from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania in May 1997.

Mr. SUN Jian (%), aged 70, is the independent non-executive
Director. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Sun currently serves as an executive director of Brayn
International Corporation Limited (FEEEERMNER AT, a
company principally engaged in business consultancy services,
since January 2020. He was appointed as a partner emerita (4
BE2EBLEAN) of AT. Kearney Inc. (RIBIEEEZAAT) in April
2018. Mr. Sun served as a senior global partner of A.T. Kearney
(Hong Kong) Limited (RlIEBEEIEFEM (F%8) AR ARF) and AT.
Kearney (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (BIHEBfE( L
) EBRBMRAT) from December 1994 to March 2018. Prior to
that, he served as a business analyst in Eastman Kodak Company
Medical Imaging Branch (fiE QB EEEH A 7]) from July 1994
to November 1994.
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Mr. Sun received a bachelor's degree in engineering from the
East China University of Science and Technology (¥ERET
KE) (formerly known as the East China Institute of Chemical
Technology (3251t TE2%)) in Shanghai, the PRC in May 1982. He
obtained a master’'s degree in economics through on job learning
from the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences (/& &% Z6R)
in Shanghai, the PRC in August 1986. Mr. Sun received a master’s
degree in business administration (MBA) from the Simon Business
School at the University of Rochester in New York, the US in June
1994. He received a doctoral degree of arts from China Academy
of Art (R BIZEAMTE26R) in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in June 2019.

Mr. ZHANG Bang (&%), aged 57, is the independent
non-executive Director. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief corporate officer of Octave
(Shanghai) Enterprise Management Company Limited (&2 (&)
EEIEHRR AR, having held that position since April 2018. Mr.
Zhang served as the chief financial officer of DG Group (Z#£&(&
¥ £E) from February 2016 to February 2018 and Golden Jaguar
Group (£#59E#%EE) from November 2013 to November 2015.
He served as the senior vice president and chief financial officer
of Mai Wang Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (433
BT E8)BRAT), a subsidiary of MecoxLane Co. Ltd. (%%
#EEE), a company previously listed on the NASDAQ with stock
code MCOX, from July 2009 to October 2013.

Mr. Zhang was an independent director of ChinaCache
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on NASDAQ with
stock code CCIH, from July 2017 to November 2020. Currently,
Mr. Zhang holds directorships in the following listed companies:
(i) independent director of Jupai, a company listed on NYSE
with stock code JP and since July 2015; and (ii) independent
nonexecutive director of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock exchange with stock code
2048 since July 2018.
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He received his master’'s degree in business administration
in June 2001 from Jinan University (BFEAZ) in China. Mr.
Zhang is both a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and a chartered global management accountant of
the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZOU Qifang (#H%), aged 71, also acts as the chief
executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for overall
strategic planning and business direction planning, supervising
and management of the Group’s business. Please see section
headed “Executive Directors — Mr. ZOU Qifang” above for details
of his biography.

Ms. XIN Qin Jessie (¥#)), aged 55, is the chief financial officer
of the Company. She is responsible for supervising accounting
and financing of the Group. Ms. Xin joined the Group in July
2015. She was appointed as the Director in August 2017 and was
re-designated as an executive Director in June 2021. She retired
as an executive Director in September 2024. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Xin served as a deputy general manager of finance
in iKang Healthcare Group (EFREIZE M), the shares of which
are listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: KANG), from May 2011 to
June 2015.

Ms. Xin received a bachelor's degree in commerce from McGill
University in Quebec, Canada in October 1997 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the California State
University in California, the US in March 2008. Ms. Xin has been a
public accountant certified by the State Board of Accountancy of
State of Delaware since October 2004.

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (8 7), aged 62, also acts as the chief
medical officer and general manager of hospitals and clinics of
the Company. He is responsible for overseeing medical services
of the Group and operations of our dental hospitals and clinics.
Please see section headed “Executive Directors — Mr. ZHANG
Jincai” above for details of his biography.
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Mr. QU Bo (H#i%h), aged 56, was appointed as the vice president
and chief operation officer of the Company in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing operations of the Group. Mr. Qu joined
the Group in May 2007.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qu served as a lawyer at Liaoning
Fada Law Firm (EZXEKEMMELFT) (formerly known as Dalian
Fada Law Firm (K&EZXEAKZRIELFT)) from December 1992 to
June 1995. He served as a manager of mainland China business
in Van Yu Trading Company Limited (B8R E S BR A7) from
June 1997 to January 2002.

Mr. Qu received his bachelor’s degree in law from the Law School
of the Jilin University (F#X&) in China in July 1990. He further
received his master’'s degree in international business from the
Ohio State University in the US in March 1998. He received his
master of business administration (MBA) degree from the York
University, Canada in June 2004 and recognized by the Chinese
Service Center for Scholarly Exchange of the Ministry of Education
in November 2006.

Mr. Zhu Zhenghong ()RIEZ), aged 58, was appointed as the vice
president of the Group and general manager of Rytime Dental
in December 2022. He is responsible for overall operation and
management of Rytime Dental in various geographic regions. Mr.
Zhu joined the Group in December 2020.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as a deputy director
of the stomatology section of Beijing Tongren Hospital (Jt=[F
{ZE8B%) from September 2000 to February 2005, vice dean and
dean of Nanjing Tongren Hospital (IR E{Z&PT) from July 2007
to December 2010 and executive vice president of Hainan HNA
Health Management Co., Ltd. (SF/EMEREIEERAF]) from
March 2013 to July 2015. Mr. Zhu joined Taikang Insurance
Group, Inc. (RERBEERMBABMRAF]) in July 2015 to serve as
general manager of its medicare development division and vice
president of TK Healthcare Investment Holdings Company Limited
(FERFEEXREERABMRATR) (“Taikang”), and had served as
the chief executive officer of Taikang Bybo Medical Group Co.,
Ltd. (ZERABEEEEBR AR following Taikang's strategic
investment in Bybo Medical Group Co., Ltd. (BEBEEEEERA
&) in April 2018.
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Mr. Zhu holds a bachelor's degree from West China Medical
University, a master’s degree and a doctoral degree from Peking
University School of Stomatology and an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School.

Mr. HU Yunfan (#ZE1l), aged 47, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations and management
of our dental hospitals and clinics. Mr. Hu joined the Group in
April 2009.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu served as the director in
charge of international liaison department of the National Olympic
Committee Liaison Office of the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (b RE29/E RMIL 7 BB S EME
B2) from June 2006 to April 2009. He was awarded the excellent
staff of 2007 and 2008 by the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (It RF29/EBMICw BB & A 4%
).

Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in science from the
University of Auckland in May 2004.

Mr. Hu Xing (#£), aged 41, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in December 2020. He
is responsible for overseeing the operations and management of
our dental hospitals and clinics in west China. Mr. Hu served as
a deputy general manager at Chongging Huaxi Dental Clinic Co.,
Ltd. (EEMWEROEMZ AR AR, currently known as Chongging
Ruisheng) from April 2009 to December 2014 and Chongging
Jiuyue from December 2014 to January 2016. Upon completion of
the acquisition of Chongging Ruisheng and Chongging Jiuyue in
August 2015, Mr Hu joined the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he served as an auditor in KPMG,
London from 2006 to 2007. Mr. Hu served as an analyst of ECM
and merger and acquisition department in ABN AMRO, Hong
Kong from June 2007 to March 2009.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor's degree in mathematics and
business management from the University of Warwick in July 2005.
He further received his master’s degree in finance from University
of Cambridge in July 2006.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Au Wai Ching (EZ&), was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in April 2022. Ms. Au is a senior
manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, which is a corporate service provider.

Ms. Au is a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and a master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance respectively from City University of Hong Kong.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

After making specific enquiries by the Company and confirmed by
the Directors, there is no change in the information of any Director
during the period from the date of the Company’'s 2024/25 interim
report to the date of this annual report that is required to be
disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and paragraph (g)
of Rule 13.51(2) in accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this Report of the Directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended March 31, 2025.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the BVl on May 23, 2001 as a
company limited by shares. On November 16, 2020, the Company
discontinued as a company incorporated under BVI Business
Companies Act 2004 (as amended) and was registered by way
of continuation as an exempted company limited by shares under
the Cayman Companies Act. The Company’s Shares were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on March 22, 2022.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZOU Qifang (#HF5)
Mr. ZHANG Jincai (E3874)
Ms. XIN Qin Jessie (¥ £) (retired on September 26, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle (2]%15)
Mr. SUN Jian (#%62)
Mr. ZHANG Bang (3R%S)

In accordance with article 109(a) and (b) of the Article of
Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation.
However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall be
the number of retiring Directors. Every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in
each year shall be those who have been in office longest since
their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.
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Accordingly, Mr. ZOU Qifang and Mr. ZHANG Jincai will retire
by rotation at the AGM pursuant to the Articles of Association
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. Details in
relation to the re-election are stated in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders together with this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of our major subsidiaries are set out in Note
19 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 257 to 259
of this annual report.

We are a leading dental services group and have established
a nationwide footprint in China, operating both Arrail Dental, a
leading premium dental services brand, and Rytime Dental, a
middle-end dental services brand.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile. Our vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We have been providing dental services since we opened our
first Arrail Dental clinic in 1999. We offer a diverse range of
professional, personalized dental services spanning (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. Through decades
of commitment and endeavors in the dental healthcare industry,
we have earned the trust of our patients.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s
principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A fair review of the business of the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business during the
Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Business
Review” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators during the Reporting Period
is provided in the section headed “Financial Review” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
These sections form an integral part of this Directors’ Report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, some of which are beyond its
control:

o We may not be able to achieve and maintain an optimal
balance between our business expansion and profitability
by effectively managing the number and mix of our
hospitals and clinics in different stages;

° The establishment of dental hospitals and clinics in the
PRC require various permits, licenses, certificates and
government approvals. There can be no assurance that we
can obtain or renew any of them in a timely manner or at
all;

. We lease properties in various place as premises for
our dental hospitals and clinics and office space. Any
non-renewal of leases, substantial increase in rent, or any
failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may
affect our business and financial performance;

. We conduct our business in a heavily regulated industry
and incur on-going compliance costs as well as face
penalties for non-compliance;

. Our professional indemnity insurance coverage and other
insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover the risks
related to our business and operations;

o We are dependent on our dentists. Our financial results
may be affected if we are not able to retain our existing
dentists or attract suitable professionals to join us;

. We may be subject to complaints, investigations or legal
proceedings relating to alleged malpractice or misconduct
in the services provided by our employees, which could
harm our reputation, brand image and results of operations;

o Our expansion strategies across the PRC are subject to
uncertainties and risks. We may not be able to implement
our business strategies on schedule or within our budget
or at all;
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o We may not be able to protect our patient information from
leakage or improper use, which could expose the Group
and our staff to claims or litigation;

° We maintain limited control over the quality of our dental
devices, medical consumables and pharmaceuticals and
may be subject to product liability claims. Any failures
or defects of the dental equipment in our hospitals and
clinics or any failure of our staff to properly operate such
equipment could subject us to liability claims;

° We generally enter into short-term agreements with our
major suppliers, which may render us vulnerable to price
fluctuations, quality issues and supply shortages, and
could materially and adversely affect our business; and

. We operate our business under the Contractual Arrangements,
and is therefore subject to the related risks which are
summarised in the section headed “Directors’ Report —
Contractual Arrangements — Risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements” in this annual report.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As one of the leading dental services providers in China,
we understand that environmental, social and governance
management is of great importance for our long-time development
and growth. During the year ended March 31, 2025 and up to
the date of this annual report, the Group was not subject to any
fines or other penalties due to non-compliance with environmental
regulations.

We are subject to, and we comply with the environmental
protection and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China. The Group is committed to minimising the
impact on the environment from its business activities. For details
of the Group’s environmental protection measures, please refer
to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “ESG
Report”) of the Company which will be published on the same
date with this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the Reporting Period. For the
year ended March 31, 2025, there was no material breach of,
or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of March 31, 2025, the Group had 3,111 full-time employees,
all of whom were based in various cities in China. Our employees
reflect the geographic footprint we currently serve. The following
table sets forth our employees by functions as of March 31, 2025:
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Number of
Function Employees %
Hek B BEAE %
Dentists el 999 32.1
Nursing staff HIEAE 1,048 33.7
Customer service staff ERAEB 575 18.5
General administrative staff —#&THBAE 273 8.8
Marketing team 2 5 15 B 216 6.9
Total @t 3,111 100.0%

We offer our employees different remuneration packages
based on their positions. Generally, the remuneration structure
of our employees includes salary, benefits and bonuses. Our
compensation programs are designed to remunerate our
employees based on their performance, measured against
specified objective criteria. We maintain standard employee
benefit plans required by PRC laws and regulations, including
housing fund contributions, pension insurance, medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance, and
maternity insurance.
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As of March 31, 2025, over 45.3 % of our full-time dentists had
master’'s degrees or above, and many held titles and qualifications
such as chief medical director or medical discipline leader. Our
team of dentists have on average 11.5 years of post-qualification
experience in the industry. Dentists with more than five, ten and
fifteen years of experience with us accounted for 44.3%, 16.7%
and 6.4% of our total dentists, which indicates strong employee
retention rates.

We have also adopted the RSU Scheme with an overall limit of
119,972,600 underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU
Scheme, representing approximately 21.3 % of the total issued
share capital of the Company (excluding the treasury shares) as of
March 31, 2025, for the participants under the RSU Scheme. As of
March 31, 2025, an aggregate of 747 employees were approved
by the Board to be the grantees with a total of 103,838,101
underlying Shares pursuant to the RSU Scheme. We further
adopted the 2022 RSU Scheme on September 3, 2022, pursuant
to which the underlying Shares will be satisfied by the existing
Shares to be acquired by the trustee on the market based on the
trading price of the market. As of March 31, 2025, no employees
were approved by the Board to be the grantees pursuant to the
2022 RSU Scheme.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor
did it experience any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
staff.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
consisted of dental equipment, consumable and dental supplies,
including anesthetics and other medicine, dental prosthesis
(such as crowns, bridges and dentures), materials used in dental
procedures (such as impression materials, filling materials and
cements), dental instruments (such as extraction forceps, injection
needles, root canal files and orthodontic brackets and aligners),
consumables (such as facial masks, disposable gloves, dental
bibs, plastic cups and gauze) and suppliers for human resources
service.
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For the year ended March 31, 2025, purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 43.2% (2024:
36.9%) of the Group’s total purchase amount. Purchases from
the Group'’s largest supplier for the year ended March 31, 2025
accounted for approximately 13.4% (2024: 13.0%) of the Group’s
total purchase amount.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company's issued share capital (excluding the
treasury shares), had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers for the year ended March 31, 2025.

During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Group did not
experience any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Our customers mainly consist of individual patients and corporate
clients. For the year ended March 31, 2025, the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 3.3% (2024: 1.1%) of the Group’s
total revenue, and the Group’s largest customer accounted for
2.3% (2024: 0.3%) of the Group’s total revenue.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding the
treasury shares), had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers for the year ended March 31, 2025.

During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Group did not
experience any significant disputes with its customers.

REE2025F3A31BIEFE  REB R AHER
MBI AR EAREENL43.2% (2024 F -
36.9%) - NE{E2025F3 A31BILFE » Hfix
AEEANRBEGAEERREENLN13.4%
(20244 : 13.0%) °

MREZE2025F3A31HILFE - BEBMA - HE
EE HESAENETBEARBEES% U LEEARF
BETRA (TEEEFRG) IR RN TR A
EENARNEERTES T -

RBE2025F3A31BILFE - ARE L EEHE
[EEERER0E PN

FEEF

BPMEFFZAEAABSERCERE - REZE
20253 A1 ALLEE  AEBRAEPHWA
IEAREBERAEI.3% (20244F : 1.1%) » AL
ENE —SAZEFPHRAGAEBRBIRAN2.3%
(20244 : 0.3%) °

REZE2025F3A31BILFE - BEEMA - @&
BEE  HESANZEEBEARBEES% U EEARF]
BEITRA (TEEEFRG ) BT R RN A A
SEMRAREL A TRER -

REZE2025F3A31HIEFE  AEETEEER
FHIBEMERUE -



2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

65

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including
suppliers, customers, employees, Shareholders and other
business associates are key to Group’s success. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We invest in staff
training as we believe the level of technical knowledge and skill
of our dentists plays an important role in our continued success.
We organize various training programs on a regular basis for
our employees to constantly enhance their knowledge and
improve their professional skills. We offer our employees different
remuneration packages based on their positions. We enter into
employment contracts with our employees to cover matters such
as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The remuneration
package of our employees usually includes salary, benefits and
bonus. We maintain standard employee benefit plans required by
PRC laws and regulations, including housing fund contribution,
pension insurance, medical insurance, workplace injury insurance,
unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them.
We believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way
process and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness
of information disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the
Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and feedback
from the Shareholders. We also recognize the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable the Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions. This has been done through general
meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and results
announcements.
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Relationship with Suppliers

The Group selects its suppliers by considering their product
quality, industry reputation and compliance with relevant
regulations and industry standards. The Group has maintained
strict control over the quality of services offered by its suppliers.
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers to meet its immediate and long-term
goals. It strives to cultivate a mutually beneficial and trusting
relationship with its suppliers so that they are able to deliver
services of the highest standard in an efficient manner.

Relationship with Customers

We have developed a growing and loyal customer base. Our
customers are primarily individual patients, and to a lesser extent,
corporate clients such as corporations, industry-leading banks
and insurance companies who provide dental care benefits to
their employees and/or customers. We proactively seek patients’
feedback on our services in order to improve. To assess our
patient experience, we encourage patients to fill out a brief
customer satisfaction survey after each clinic visit. Our patients
can also direct their feedback to our dentists and other staff. In
addition, a customer service hotline is in place whereby patients
can make inquiries and complaints to the customer service team.
We conduct internal review on typical patient complaints and the
appropriate rectification measures on a weekly basis, aiming to
prevent occurrence of complaints of a similar nature.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2025 are set out in the consolidated income statement in this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group for the year ended March 31, 2025 are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for
the year ended March 31, 2025 and details of the Shares issued
for the year ended March 31, 2025 are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture for the year ended March
31, 2025.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme as set out in
this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed for the year ended March 31, 2025, and
there was no provision to enter into any agreement which will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group donated RMB601,585 to the non-profit organization for
charitable and community purposes during the Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended March 31, 2025.
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The Company is a holding company registered under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. As a result, the payment and amount of any
future dividend will also depend on the availability of dividends
received from the subsidiaries. Distributions from the Company
and the subsidiaries may also become subject to any restrictive
covenants in bank credit facilities, convertible bond instruments
or other agreements that the Company and the subsidiaries may
enter into in the future.

The amount of dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend upon our earnings and financial condition, operating
requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions that
the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to approval
of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividend. We currently intend to retain most, if not
all, of our available funds and any future earnings after the Global
Offering to fund the development and growth of our business.
As a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended March 31, 2025. The Company has taken out and
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for
the Directors.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium
account, retained earnings and any other reserves provided
that immediately following the payment of such dividends, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of March 31, 2025, the Company did not retain any distributable
profits under IFRS as reserves to our equity Shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended March 31, 2025 are set out in
Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at March 31, 2025 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

As of March 31, 2025, save as disclosed in the section headed
“—Connected Transactions — Provision of Loan and Pledge
of Shares” below, the Company has not entered into any

loan agreement which contains covenants requiring specific
performance of the controlling shareholders.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATION PURSUANT
TO THE LISTING RULES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not

have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21
and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company, pursuant to which each of them agrees to
act as an executive Director (as the case may be), subject to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors entered into
an appointment letter with the Company. The initial term for the
appointment letters shall be three years and is subject always to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the appointment letter.

The above appointments are always subject to the provisions
of retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

“

Save as disclosed in the section headed “—Connected
Transactions” and “—Contractual Arrangements” below, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor
any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended March 31,
2025.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors and
the controlling shareholders was interested in any business which
competes with or is likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group for the year ending March 31, 2025 and require disclosure
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended March 31, 2025.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of March 31, 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company and their associates
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Mr. ZOU Qifang Beneficial owner® 16,340,775(L) 2.90%
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MR EE#ERO®
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Mr. ZHANG Jincai Beneficial owner 1,261,344(L) 0.22%
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Notes:

Calculated based on 564,030,950 total issued Shares as of
March 31, 2025.

Beier Holdings Limited holds 9,920,675 Shares directly, which
is wholly owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Therefore, Mr. Zou is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Beier Holdings
Limited under the SFO.

Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares
directly, which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings
Limited. On the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited holds
30,171,025 Shares directly, which is in turn wholly owned by
United Culture Assets Limited, a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. Zou. A family trust
was established over United Culture Assets Limited for the
benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly, of
which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor. Therefore, Mr.
Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each of
them under the SFO.

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated September 29, 2022, June 27, 2023, June 26, 2024
and November 29, 2024, in relation to the Loan Agreement,
the Amendment Agreement and the Second Amendment
Agreement entered into between the Company (as the Lender)
and Beier Holdings Limited (as the Borrower), and Security
Agreement entered into between the Lender and Mingda
International Limited, pursuant to which the Lender agreed
to provide a loan facility in an aggregate principal amount
of US$11 million to the Borrower, and the ultimate beneficial
owner of the Borrower, Mr. Zou, agreed to pledge 9,920,675
Shares held by the Borrower, 4,916,475 Shares held by himself
and 8,500,000 Share held by Mingda International Limited to
the Company as security for the Loan.

The Board has set up Arrail Sunshine as a platform in the
BVI to hold incentive shares for the participants under the
RSU Scheme. The voting rights of the Shares held by Arrail
Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the participants
other than Mr. Zou) is held by Mr. Zou by way of proxy.
Therefore, Mr. Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the
participants other than Mr. Zou) under the SFO.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as of March 31, 2025, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their associates
had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of March 31, 2025, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their associates) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or will, directly or
indirectly, be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at the general meetings of the Company or any other members of
the Group:
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Shares/Underlying Shares
Held as of March 31, 2025
BIE2025F3A31HATFEEW

gy =12 vy
Number of Approximate

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®

FTERRER EEME ROEE BB

Rise Day Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 30,171,025(L) 5.35%
E=EAA
Interest in controlled corporations® 18,500,000(L) 3.28%
MR EE#ER®

United Culture Assets Limited Interest in controlled corporations®® 48,671,025(L) 8.63%
MR EE #ER®

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited Trustee® 48,671,025(L) 8.63%
FFEA@

Arrail Sunshine Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 113,532,850(L) 20.13%
Emfa A0

KASTLE LIMITED Trustee® 124,293,350(L) 22.04%

ETBEBARAT ZEEAW®

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner® 58,237,675(L) 10.33%
E=BEBANO

Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited Interest in controlled corporations® 58,237,675(L) 10.33%
MR EEERO

Fullerton Management Pte Ltd Interest in controlled corporations® 58,237,675(L) 10.33%

REEEEEE®
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Shares/Underlying Shares
Held as of March 31, 2025
BIZ2025F3A31HATFEEW

B AEE R
Number of Approximate
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®
FTERRER EEME REE BOEIHEO
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited Interest in controlled corporations® 58,237,675(L) 10.33%
#EH R (LA BIRAF] REEEERS
Total Success Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
EmHERAO
19 Growth Capital Fund LP Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
MR EE#ERO
Empire Choice International Limited Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
MR EE ERO
Roger K C Young Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
MEEE RO
19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
MR EE#ERO
John Paul Buckley Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
MR EE #ERO
Zheng Zhang Interest in controlled corporations® 39,439,400(L) 6.99%
REIEE RO
KPCB China Associates Ltd. Interest in controlled corporations(” 31,121,900(L) 5.52%

Notes:

REELE

Calculated based on 564,030,950 total issued Shares as of
March 31, 2025.

Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares directly,
which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings Limited.
Under the SFO, Rise Day Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interest in the Shares held by Mingda International Limited. On
the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited is held by United
Culture Assets Limited, which is a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. ZOU Qifang. A
family trust was established over United Culture Assets Limited
for the benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly,
of which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor, and Trident
Trust Company (HK) Limited is the trustee of the family trust.
Therefore, Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited and United
Culture Assets Limited are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Rise Day Holdings Limited under the SFO.

Hiat

().

BEEE2025F3 A31 BB BTRMHBH
564,030,950 %51 & -

Mingda International LimitedE&#E
18,500,000 %7 + fMingda International
LimitedfiRise Day Holdings LimitedZ#& #
B o REFESH LBEKES - Rise Day Holdings
Limited ¥ % &M Mingda International Limited
BAENKRMOPHEEREZ - 1LY - Rise Day
Holdings LimitedfUnited Culture Assets
Limited (—REBEF EELZRNB LT
A2 BHENRBHERRBES AR )HEAR -
INBEERERKKERZE ANRIKET
#iBUnited Culture Assets Limited &%
N ERPRERREARMERTA M
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited %%
HEFRHZFEA - Bt BREFSFLBAER
% - Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited &
United Culture Assets Limited# 1% & Rise
Day Holdings Limited#5 8 88D R A % -



2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

75

Arrail Sunshine is a platform in the BVI set up by the Board
to hold incentive shares of the Company, for the participants
under the RSU Scheme. The voting rights of Arrail Sunshine is
held by Mr. ZOU Qifang by way of proxy.

KASTLE LIMITED, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
is the trustee (which is independent of and not a connected
person of the Company) appointed by the Company for the
administration of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU Scheme.
KASTLE LIMITED is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine and Arrail Revival Holdings Limited,
the platforms holding underlying Shares for RSU Scheme and
2022 RSU Scheme, under the SFO.

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. is a company incorporated in
Singapore, which is wholly owned by Temasek Life Sciences
Private Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Fullerton
Management Pte Ltd, which is in turn wholly owned by
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Under the SFO, each of
Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited, Fullerton Management
Pte Ltd and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Elbrus Investments Pte.
Ltd..

Total Success Investment Ltd. is an investment holding
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and is wholly
owned by 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, a limited partnership
registered in the State of Delaware. Empire Choice International
Limited is the limited partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund LP,
which is wholly owned by Roger K C Young. 19 Growth Capital
Fund GP Inc. is the general partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund
LP, and 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. is owned as to 60%
by John Paul Buckley and 40% by Zheng Zhang. Under the
SFO, 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, Empire Choice International
Limited, Roger K C Young, 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.,
John Paul Buckley and Zheng Zhang are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Total Success Investment Ltd..
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(7). KPCB China Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CF”) holds 29,045,950 Shares
directly and KPCB China Founders Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CFF")
holds 2,075,950 Shares directly, which both are exempted
limited partnerships established under the laws of Cayman
Islands and are venture capital funds. The general partner
of KPCB CF and KPCB CFF is KPCB China Associates, Ltd.,
which is a Cayman Islands exempted company. The voting
and investment power of shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB
CFF is exercised by the board of KPCB China Associates, Ltd.,
which consists of Tina Lin-chi Ju, Theodore Schlein, Brook
Byers, L. John Doerr and Raymond Lane. Under the SFO,
KPCB China Associates, Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB CFF.

(8). The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2025, no person, other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any of its Associated
Corporations” above, had any interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on August 3, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out in
the section headed “A. Further Information about our Company
and our Subsidiaries — 6. RSU Scheme” in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus. The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate our Directors, employees and such other
participants, and to provide a means of compensating them
through the grant of awards (“Awards”) for their contribution to
the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such Directors,
employees and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.

(7). KPCB China Fund, L.P.([KPCB CF|) &
B H29,045,950k % X KPCB China
Founders Fund, L.P.([KPCB CFF)) B
52,075,950kt - REHRIBERHSHEE
PIK I MEREEREBLE  BRERIIZE
4 - KPCB CFMKPCB CFFRIERAB AL
M2 EEN%E R AIKPCB China Associates,
Ltd. e KPCB CFXKPCB CFFAT#H B0 K%
=R EEMAKPCB China Associates, Ltd.
MEESITE - Z=EEMHTina Lin-chi Ju-
Theodore Schlein » Brook Byers » L. John
Doerr X% Raymond Lane#ifk o iR 1% &% & &
E %% - KPCB China Associates, Ltd. # %5

HAKPCB CFNMKPCB CFF#E 8D A &
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The Participants of the Scheme

The participant of the RSU Scheme is any person belong to any
of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company
or its subsidiaries; (ii) any Director, including independent
non-executive Director, or any director of any of the subsidiaries;
and (iii) any other consultant to the Group who, in the sole opinion
of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

Pursuant to the RSU Scheme, the overall limit on the number
of underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU Scheme is
119,972,600 Shares, which represents approximately 21.3% of the
total issued share capital of the Company (excluding the treasury
shares) as of the date of this annual report.

As the RSU Scheme constitutes a share scheme that is funded
only by existing Shares and no Shares are available for issue
under the RSU Scheme as at the date of the annual report.

There is no maximum limit of RSUs which may be granted to each
participant subject to the compliance of the Listing Rules.

Term

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of
ten years commencing on August 3, 2021, with a remaining
life of approximately six years and one month as of the date of
this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.
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Vesting Criteria and Other Terms

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the grantee.
The Board may set vesting criteria based upon the achievement
of Company-wide, business unit, or individual goals (including,
but not limited to, continued employment or service), or any other
basis determined by the Board in its discretion.

The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective award
agreement between the Company and the grantees.

Form and Timing of Payment

Payment of realized RSUs will be made as soon as practicable
after the date(s) determined by the Board and set forth in
the award agreement. The Board, in its sole discretion, may
decide the method to settle realized RSUs in cash, Shares, or a
combination of both.

Grant of RSUs

As of March 31, 2025, an aggregate of 747 grantees were
granted with RSUs with a total of 103,838,101 underlying
Shares, representing 18.4% of the total number of issued Shares
(excluding the treasury shares), under the RSU Scheme, details of
which are set out below.

EFBITE R A MIRA
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Closing
price of
Shares
immediately
before the
date on
Outstanding Outstanding which the Total fair
opening ending RSUs were  Exercise value of
Name of balance  Granted Vested Lapsed ~ Cancelled  Exercised balance granted price of RSUs at
participant or asof duringthe duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the as of during the  per RSU the date
Category of April1,  Reporting ~ Reporting ~ Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  March 31, Reporting  granted of grant
participant Date of grant 2024 Period Period Period Period Period 2025 Vesting Period Period  (inHKD) (in RMB)®
REERR BRESR  ERARG
BEAUE BEAE PESRA ERARE  BUARY
4R18 3831A REEL B AENELA
VLT WAGE HAGE RHAREG  GRE e
SEERN  RuEH NEIRE SEEARN SEHABRE BEBAAN REEAEE BEEMGR  0ERBE BRRV RbUmE  (Bn)  (ARE)®
Directors or chief executive and their associates EZ5 55 THABRHSNEEA
Mr.Z0U Qifang  October 1,2021 10,180,325 - - - - - 10,180,325 Qctober 1, 2021 - March 22, 2024 N/A 552 42,143,083
PErzE  OnF0R1R AN E10F1BENUEIARE TR
January 1, 2025 - 80,000 40,000 - - - 80,000 October 1, 2024 - March 31, 2028 218 001 194673
20551718 N4E10R1BE206%E3A31A
Mr. ZHANG Jincai- October 1, 2021 200,000 - - - - - 200,000 October 1, 2021 - March 22, 2024 N/A 15 9,667,961
ERARE AFI0R1R 21 E10F1AZUFIA0R TR
November 20,2023 137900 - 68950 - - 137900 - July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 173 001 290,733
0235117298 2357 F1REN456A30A
August 1, 204 - 4B 161136 17,904 - 46,552 160,392 July 1, 2024 - June 30, 202 425 001 255,348
2045818 N4ET F1RZN5F6ANA
January 1, 2025 - 40,000 20,000 - - - 40,000 October 1, 2024 - March 31, 2026 278 001 97337
0551718 NA4ENAIAZNBEIANA
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period (excluding the Directors) #4$AT 485 5HA L (KEEH)
Qctober 1, 2021 734,325 - - - - - 734,325 October 1, 2021 - March 22, 2024 N/A 6.46 389,303
NNENAIA NNENAIRZNUEIA2A et
April 1, 2024 - 3,089 3,089 - - - 3089 Apri 1, 2024 - January 1, 2025 651 001 2201
NAELAIA AUELABENSF AR
July 1, 2024 - 23340 11670 - - - 23340 July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025 518 001 11,386
NUETAIA 45T A1BENHE6A30R
November 7, 2024 - 76,000 19,000 - - - 76,000 October 1, 2024 - September 30, 33 001 282647
2026
NUENATH 2024510R1BE20%659A30A
Other employees EfHES
October 1,201 67,868,923 - - 4659786 - 8838905 54370232 October 1, 2021 - March 22, 2024 N/A 548 256,761,959
NNENAIA A21E10R1BE202453A2R TR
November 29,2023 4,391,027 - 1797162 97,257 - 1166164 3,127,606 November 29, 2023 - December 11, 113 006 9787927
2026
NBE1A9R 203511 A9BZAF 124118
April 1, 204 - 1571873 1233234 181557 - 194046 1,196,270 April 1, 2024 - August 31, 202 6.51 001 1856545
NUE4R1A NU4ELA1RZNBES AN
July 1, 2024 - %6573 230,018 12500 - 2850 311,23 July 1, 2024 - May 20, 2028 518 001 404,367
NUETAIA 2457 A1BZ2BE5 408
November 7, 2024 - 3745t 1138813 38,000 - 123500 3583011 Qctober 1, 2024 - September 1, 2028 33 010 11375616
NUENATA NU4E10R1BENBEIAIA
January 1, 2025 - 05,287 512 - - - 65,237 January 1, 2025 - December 31, 278 0.01 168,749
2025
0551718 NBE1R1RENAE12A31R
February 1, 2025 - 14 697,290 - - 37500 1,402,672 January 1, 2025 - February 28, 2029 253 00t 3177565
%5218 %551 R1EE09%2328H
Total &3t 83512500 7585643 5425488 5,007,004 - 10547417 75543722 492 336,807,420




80

Arrail Group Limited wREBEERQ T

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

Notes:

(1) The vesting of the RSUs granted are not subject to any
performance targets.

(2) The fair value of RSUs at the date of grant was calculated
in accordance with the accounting standards and policies
adopted for preparing the financial statements.

2022 RSU Scheme

The 2022 RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on September 3, 2022. The purpose of the 2022 RSU Scheme is
to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and employees, and
to provide a means of compensating them through the Awards for
their contribution to the growth and profits of the Group, and to
allow such Directors and employees to participate in the growth
and profitability of the Group.

The Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select
any of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company or its subsidiaries; and (ii) any Director, or any director
of any of the subsidiaries as a selected participant and determine
the RSUs for each of them.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

The Board shall not make any further awards which will result in
the nominal value of the underlying Shares under the 2022 RSU
Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued Shares as at September 3,
2022 (i.e., 58,159,195 Shares).

Pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme, the underlying Shares will be
satisfied by the existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee on
the market based on the trading price of the market. The maximum
number of the underlying Shares which may be transferred or
paid-out in settlement of all RSUs to be granted to any Selected
Participants under the 2022 RSU Scheme shall not exceed 1% of
the issued Shares from time to time in any 12-month period.

As the 2022 RSU Scheme constitutes a share scheme that is
funded only by existing Shares, no Shares are available for issue
under the RSU Scheme as at the date of the annual report.

Term

The 2022 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of ten years commencing on September 3, 2022, with a remaining
life of approximately seven years and two months as of the date
of this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.
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Vesting

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the selected
participant(s). The Board may set vesting criteria based upon
the achievement of Company-wide, business unit, or individual
goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or
service), or any other basis determined by the Board in its
discretion. The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective
award agreement(s) between the Company and the selected
participant(s).

Grant of RSUs

As of the date of this annual report, no employees were approved
by the Board to be the grantees pursuant to the 2022 RSU
Scheme. During the Reporting Period, Arrail Revival Holdings
Limited, a company established by the Company with limited
liability and serving as the platform holding underlying Shares
for the 2022 RSU Scheme, purchased 5,469,500 Shares from the
Stock Exchange at a cash consideration of HK$27.8 million under
the 2022 RSU Scheme.

KASTLE LIMITED, the trustee of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU
Scheme, who is currently holding unvested shares with voting
rights attached will abstain from voting on any resolutions at the
general meeting.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs
granted under the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme during
the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number
of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding the treasury
shares) for the Reporting Period is nil as no Shares are available
for issue under the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time for the year
ended March 31, 2025 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established the
Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
The remuneration is and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee based on each Director’s and senior management
personnel’s qualification, position, performance and experience
to the Board for approval. As for the independent non-executive
Directors, their remuneration is determined by the Board upon
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee. The Directors
and the senior management personnel are eligible participants of
the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, management and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 36 and Note 9,
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors nor the five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were
no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office.

None of the Directors were paid discretionary bonuses for the
year ended March 31, 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, the following transaction
constitutes connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules and is required to be disclosed in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that, save as disclosed below and the
Contractual Arrangements as disclosed in the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” below, none of the related party
transactions falls under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable. Please see below
the information required to be disclosed in compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Subscription of the Registered Capital of Jinyaori
Medical and the Licensing Agreement

On November 3, 2022, Shenzhen Ruijian, a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
(the “Cooperation Agreement’) with Hangzhou Jarvis and
Hangzhou Jinyaori Medical Technology Company Limited (#7
MNeRABERFEARARF) (“Jinyaori Medical”), pursuant to
which Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to subscribe for 20% of the
registered capital of Jinyaori Medical at the subscription amount
of RMB30 million. Upon completion of the subscription, Jinyaori
Medical will be owned as to 20% and 80% by Shenzhen Ruijian
and Hangzhou Jarvis respectively. On the same day, Beijing
Ruier, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
licensing agreement (the “Licensing Agreement’) with Jinyaori
Medical, pursuant to which Beijing Ruier shall license certain
intellectual property rights to Jinyaori Medical for a term of three
years. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
November 3, 2022 for details.

In consideration of the licensing of the intellectual property rights
under the Licensing Agreement, Jinyaori Medical shall pay Beijing
Ruier a royalty fee equal to 20% of the Annual Membership
Contract Revenue' for each 12-month period during the licensing
term, payable within one month from the end of each 12-month
period.

The aggregate annual amount of royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier for the three years ended March
31, 2023, 2024 and 2025 shall not exceed RMBO0.86 million,
RMB4.00 million and RMB9.57 million respectively. In determining
the above proposed annual caps for the royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier, the Directors have considered,
among others, (i) the expected significant growth in the digital
membership business engaged by Jinyaori Medical in 2024 and
beyond based on its business strategies and market trends; (ii)
the confidence in the management team of Jinyaori Medical and
the synergies to be generated in light of the cooperation with the
Group; and (iii) the ratio of royalty fee calculated based on the
Annual Membership Contract Revenue.

1 Annual Membership Contract Revenue means the net sales
generated from the sale of membership products based on
the licensed intellectual property rights, minus the marketing
expenses and other licensing-related expenses.
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For the year ended March 31, 2025, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred in accordance with the Licensing Agreement was
nil.

As of the date of this annual report, Hangzhou Jarvis is owned
as to 56.9% by Ms. Zou Jin, the daughter of Mr. Zou Qifang. As
Mr. Zou is the executive Director, chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company as well as the controlling
shareholder, Hangzhou Jarvis is a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
entering into (i) the Cooperation Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute connected transaction for
the Company; and (ii) the Licensing Agreement and transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio exceeds 0.1%
but less than 5%, each of (i) the Subscription as contemplated
under the Cooperation Agreement and (ii) the transactions
contemplated under the Licensing Agreement is subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from the
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company believes that the cooperation as contemplated
under the Cooperation Agreement and the Licensing Agreement
will create synergy to the Group, including but not limited to:
(1) enhancing the operational level of the Group in terms of
professional skills; (2) further expanding the recognition of the
Group in the corresponding fields; and (3) providing the Company
with a more stable business environment and operation structure.
With the business growth of Jinyaori Medical, the Company will
further optimize the management system of dental clinics, the
continuing education of dental clinics, and at the same time
increase the private operation service of clinic, which will bring
a favorable impact on the profitability of the Company, which is
in line with the Company’s and the Shareholders’ interests as a
whole.
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Annual Review and Confirmation by the Auditor of the
Company

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unmodified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 284 to 290 of the Annual Report in accordance with the
Listing Rule 14A.56.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the above continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (iii) pursuant to the agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Provision of Loan and Pledge of Shares

On September 28, 2022, the Company entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide a
loan facility in the principal amount of US$11 million (the “Loan”)
at an interest rate of 4.5% per annum to Beier for a term of 9
months to finance the repayment of the existing loan. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated September 29, 2022
for details.

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security
for the extended Loan. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated June 27, 2023 for details.

On June 26, 2024, the Company and Beier entered into a second
amendment agreement (the “Second Amendment Agreement”) to
the Loan Agreement pursuant to which the parties agreed that the
term of the Loan shall be further extended from 18 months to 30
months commencing from the September 30, 2022 (the “Further
Extension of Loan”). Save for the extended term of Loan and
other amendments disclosed herein, all the material terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged and in
full force and effect. On the same date, to cover the liabilities
and obligations of the Borrower under the Second Amendment
Agreement, the Amendment Agreement and the Loan Agreement
as amended by the Amendment Agreement and as further
amended by the Second Amendment Agreement, the original
share pledge of 9,920,675 Shares held by the Borrower was
extended and 4,916,475 Shares held by Mr. Zou, the executive
Director and one of the controlling shareholders of the Company,
were further pledged in favour of the Company as security for the
amendments contained in the Second Amendment Agreement.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated June 26,
2024 for details.
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On November 29, 2024, Mingda International Limited (“Mingda”)
and the Company entered into the Security Agreement, pursuant
to which Mingda agreed to pledge 8,500,000 Shares in favor
of the Company as additional security for the Loan. Upon
the completion of pledging of the Shares held by Mingda, an
aggregate of 23,337,150 Shares, representing approximately
4.14% of the total issued share capital of the Company (excluding
the treasury shares) as at the date of the annual report, directly
or indirectly held by Mr. Zou are pledged in favor of the Company
for the Loan. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated November 29, 2024 for details.

On June 27, 2025, the Company and Beier entered into a third
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Third
Amendment Agreement”’), pursuant to which the parties agreed
that, among others, the principal amount of the Loan shall be
reduced from US$11 million to US$7.5 million as a result of
repayment made in cash by the Borrower, and the term of the
Loan shall be extended for another year (i.e. from 30 months
to 42 months commencing from September 30, 2022. Save for
the reduction of the principal amount of the Loan, the extended
term of the Loan and other amendments disclosed herein, all
the material terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement remain
unchanged (including the interest rate remains at 5.5%) and in
full force and effect. On the same date, to cover the liabilities and
obligations of the Beier under the Loan Agreement (as amended
by the Amendment Agreement and as further amended by the
Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment
Agreement), the original share pledges comprising 9,920,675
Shares held by the Beier, 4,916,475 Shares held by Mr. Zou, and
8,500,000 Shares held by Mingda were extended, and 10,000,000
Shares held by Mingda and 18,000,000 Shares held by Rise Day
Holding Limited, were further pledged in favour of the Company
as security for the amendments contained in the Third Amendment
Agreement. The total pledged Shares represent approximately
9.13% of the total issued share capital of the Company (excluding
the treasury shares) as at the date of this annual report. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated June 27, 2025
for details.
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Beier is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability and
wholly-owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Mr. Zou is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and therefore a connected person
of the Company. Hence, the provision of the Loan constitutes a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As all applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the provision of the
Loan are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the provision of the
Loan is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but is exempt from the circular and the independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Loan was used primarily by Beier to refinance the Beier’s
acquisition cost of 9,920,675 Shares in series D-3 pre-IPO
investment conducted in December 2017. Given that (i) Mr.
Zou’s acquisition of interests in the Company shows support
and commitment to the Company as Mr. Zou is very confident
in the prospects and long term goal of the Company; (ii) the
Company will receive interest for the Loan at the rate of 5.5% per
annum in short term which is much higher than the interest rate
of fixed deposits offered by banks in the PRC and the provision
of Loan can broaden the source of income of the Group; (iii)
the Company currently has sufficient cash flows and there is
no substantial negative impact to the Company’s operation and
financial performance for granting the Loan; (iv) the available
resources for Beier to fulfill the repayment obligations under the
Loan Agreement are limited; and (v) the repayment obligations of
Beier arising from the Loan are secured by the pledged Shares,
the provision of Loan and its extensions with pledge of the Shares
are considered to be favorable to the Company. Accordingly, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider that the provision of the Loan and its extensions with
pledge of the Shares, although not in the ordinary course of
business of the Company, is on normal commercial terms or better
and the terms of the Loan Agreement, the Amendment Agreement,
the Second Amendment Agreement, the Security Agreement
and the Third Amendment Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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Save for disclosed above and the Contractual Arrangements as
disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”
below, during the Reporting Period, we have not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into the Contractual Arrangements with
Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and the Registered Shareholder,
to enable us to, among other things, (1) obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from Shenzhen Ruijian in consideration for
the management and consultation services provided by Beijing
Ruier in this regard; (2) exercise effective control over VIE Entities;
and (3) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or any part of
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian where permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, the VIE
Entities’ results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows
will be consolidated into the Company’s financial statements.
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The following simplified diagram sets forth the structure of the

Contractual Arrangements:
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(1) Powers of attorney to exercise all shareholder’s
rights in Shenzhen Ruijian(et

(2) Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity
interest in and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian™t2
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Notes:

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

Please refer to “—Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney” below for details.

Please refer to “—Exclusive Option Agreement” below for
details.

Please refer to “—Equity Pledge Agreement” below for details.

Please refer to “—Exclusive Operation Services Agreement”
below for details.

The Registered Shareholder is Ms. ZOU Lifang, who is a PRC
citizen and the sister of our founder Mr. ZOU Qifang. Ms. Zou
holds 100% interest of Shenzhen Ruijian.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Shengbin was held by
Beijing Ruisheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Ruicheng was held by
Beijing Ruisheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Yazheng was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shenzhen Ruier was held by the
WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Ruitai was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Hangzhou Shengbin was held
by Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Shengbin was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% and 20% interest of Qingdao Ruigi were
held by Beijing Ruisheng and Chengdu Ruibowen Hospital
Management Center LLP (FKEMIRI X ERRERFL(ERE
%)), a limited partnership set up by some of our employees,
including Mr. QU Bo and Mr. HU Yunfan, who are senior
management of the Company, respectively.

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jinmei was held by
the WFOE.
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(15)

(16)

a7)

(18)

(19)

(20)

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jiuyue was held by
Chongging Ruijing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% and 12% interest of Chongging Ruitai
were held by Chongging Ruijing and Chongging Ruibang
Xingtai Hospital Management Center LLP (EEksBHEZEERR
EEPOL(ERAE)), a limited partnership set up by some
of our employees, including Mr. HU Xing, who is our senior
management, respectively.

The remaining 90% interest of Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai was held
by Chongging Ruijing.

The remaining 90% interest of Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BEMBHEHKZFABEERABRAF) was held
by Zhuhai Hengqin Ruiertai Hospital Investment Co., Ltd. (¥
BEERBRERIEEARRAA), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the WFOE, and Hainan Yongrui Enterprise Management Center
(Limited Partnership) (SE#HHLCEEEFL(EREHE), a
third party independent to the Company, as to 70% and 20%,
respectively.

The remaining 85% interest of Guangzhou Ruihua Dental Clinic
Co., Ltd. (BEMmZEQEFIZBRAEF) was held by Zhuhai
Henggin Ruiertai Hospital Investment Co., Ltd. (BKERERE
BRI EFRAE]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE,
and Guangzhou Yuexin Dental Medical Management Co., Ltd.
(BMEFOEELEEEARAT), a third party independent to
the Company, as to 70% and 15%, respectively.

The remaining 90% interest of Chongqging Ruihua Dental
Clinic Co., Ltd. (EEWEQREMZEBRAE) was held by
1) Chongqging Ruijing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
WFOE, 2) Chongging Ruidi Hospital Management Center
(Limited Partnership) (EEHEERETES L (BRERE)), a
limited partnership set up by some of our employees, and
3) Chongging Ruiyu Hospital Management Center (Limited
Partnership) (EEmAEBREREF L (BRAE%)), a limited
partnership set up by some of our employees, including Mr.
HU Xing, who is our senior management as to 60%, 25% and
5%, respectively.
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Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(i) Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

Beijing Ruier, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen
Ruijian and subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian
entered into an exclusive operation services agreement
on August 20, 2020 (the “Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, inter alia, Shenzhen
Ruijian agreed to engage Beijing Ruier as the exclusive
operation service consultant and service provider in
exchange for a service fee.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
formulation and implementation of plans in relation to
current and future assets and business operation matters
of Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities; (ii) provision
of opinions, advices and management to the human
resources and operations of Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities, including but not limited to improvement
measures on employee management and continuing
staff training plan; (iii) relevant technical and commercial
information collection and market research, providing
industry information and management decision; (iv) client
referral and providing advice and decision on marketing
promotion; (v) appointment of technical staff for Shenzhen
Ruijian and the VIE Entities, providing overall technical
operation monitoring and market strategies research;
(vi) provision of opinions and advices on the corporate
structure and management system of Shenzhen Ruijian and
the VIE Entities; (vii) providing comprehensive solutions
on medical technologies required by Shenzhen Ruijian
and the VIE Entities including medical technologies
management consultancy services, medical resources
sharing, recruitment and training of professional staff;
(viii) selection and referral of eligible supplier, quality
control of medicine and medical devices; (ix) appointment
of technical staff to monitor quality of medical services
provided by the VIE Entities; (x) other technical
services, operation maintenance, equipment supply
and management consultancy services as requested by
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Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities from time to time to
the extent permissible under the PRC laws. Beijing Ruier
has proprietary rights to all the intellectual properties
developed or created by itself from the performance of
these services. During the term of the Exclusive Operation
Service Agreement, Beijing Ruier may use the intellectual
property rights owned by Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities free of charge and without any conditions.
Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities may also use the
intellectual property work created by Beijing Ruier in the
course of provision of services in accordance with the
Exclusive Operation Service Agreement.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements,
the service fee shall be an amount equal to the annual
distributable profits of the VIE Entities obtained by
Shenzhen Ruijian, after deducting the losses from the
previous financial years (if any) and the statutory reserves
(if applicable), subject to the applicable PRC laws and
regulations. Apart from the service fees, the VIE Entities
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, payments and
out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Beijing Ruier in
connection with the performance of the Exclusive Operation
Services Agreement and provision of services thereunder.

In addition, without the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier, during the term of the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen Ruijian
and the subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian shall
not enter into any written or oral agreement with any third
party for provision of the same or similar services as those
provided thereunder. Beijing Ruier has the right to appoint
any third party to provide any or all of the services, or to
fulfill any of its obligations under the Exclusive Operation
Services Agreement.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
effective upon signing, and shall remain valid for three
years. Subject to compliance with the Listing Rules,
the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
automatically renewed for a term of three years upon its
expiration, unless terminated in accordance with the terms
therein.
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(1)

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement can only be
terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to indirectly or directly
holdall the equity interests in the VIE Entities as permitted
by the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all the equity interests or assets of the the VIE Entities
directly or indirectly owned by Shenzhen Ruijian have been
transferred to Beijing Ruier or its designated person(s)
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) if
Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) are able to
directly hold all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian
as the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all of the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian owned by
the Registered Shareholder to Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws
and regulations, (iii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates
the agreement, or (iv) continuing performance of the
agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or other requirements of the Stock Exchange.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, the Registered
Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian entered into an
exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, Beijing Ruier
was granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive
right to purchase all or any part of the equity interests in
and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian held at present or in the
future for a consideration equivalent to the lowest price
permitted under the PRC laws at the time of purchase. The
Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to
refund all amount received in the transfer of equity interests
or assets, as the case maybe, under the Exclusive Option
Agreement to Beijing Ruier or any designee.

(1)
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The Registered Shareholder, among other things, has

covenanted that, without the prior written consent of Beijing

Ruier:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(viii)

(ix)

she will not transfer or otherwise dispose or create
any encumbrances on any of her equity interest in
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not increase, decrease or change the
structure of the registered capital of Shenzhen
Ruijian, and shall not approve Shenzhen Ruijian to
merge, consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity;

she will not dispose or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to dispose any material assets
with a fair value above RMB500,000;

she will not terminate or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to terminate any material contracts
with a value above RMB500,000, or enter into
any agreements that contradicts with the material
contracts that currently in force;

she will not appoint or change any director,
supervisor or any other management personnel of
Shenzhen Ruijian that should be appointed by the
Registered Shareholder;

she will not cause or permit the distribution of any
distributable profits and dividends;

she will not amend the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian
to provide any loan or guarantee in any kind, or
undertake any substantive duties other than in the
ordinary course of business;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian to
enter into any transaction or take any action that
may affect its assets, rights, duties and operation;
and

she will not directly or indirectly engage, possess or
acquire any business which competes or is likely to
compete with the business of Shenzhen Ruijian.
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The Registered Shareholder further undertakes that, upon
Beijing Ruier issuing the notice to exercise the option in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement, the
Registered Shareholder will take all necessary actions to
procure the transfer and relinquish the pre-emptive right (if
any). Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option Agreement
confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a dissolution or
liquidation of Shenzhen Ruijian under the PRC laws, all the
residual assets attributable to the Registered Shareholder
in Shenzhen Ruijian shall be transferred to Beijing Ruier or
its designated person(s) at the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws, and the Registered Shareholder
undertakes that she shall refund all amount received in the
transfer to Beijing Ruier or any designee. Each of Beijing
Ruier, the Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian
confirmed and agreed that, in the event of bankruptcy,
reorganization, merger or shareholder change of Shenzhen
Ruijian which affects the Registered Shareholder’s
equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian, the successor of the
Registered Shareholder shall be bound by the Exclusive
Option Agreement, and any disposal of interests (including
but not limited to equity interest, debt and asset) in
Shenzhen Ruijian contained in any debt arrangement,
reorganization agreement and any other legal documents
shall not contradict with the Exclusive Option Agreement
unless otherwise with the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be effective upon
execution and have an indefinite term unless terminated
in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreement, or (iii) continuing
performance of the obligations of the agreements will
result in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable
PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules or other
requirements of the Stock Exchange.
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(iii)

Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier and the Registered
Shareholder entered into a shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement (the “Entrustment Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Ruijian and executed a powers of attorney (the “Powers of
Attorney”) in favor of Mr. ZOU Qifang (the “Attorney”).

to execute shareholder resolutions as her proxy;

to exercise all shareholder’s voting rights in
accordance with PRC laws and the constitutional
documents of Shenzhen Ruijian, including but not
limited to the appointment of legal representative,
director and supervisor of Shenzhen Ruijian,
amendment of the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian, decision on the increase and
decrease of registered capital, merger, split and
transfer of equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as
her proxy; and

to receive any residual assets of Shenzhen Ruijian
as her proxy in the event of dissolution or liquidation
of Shenzhen Ruijian.

(iii)
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The Registered Shareholder undertakes that, the
authorization granted under the Entrustment Agreement will
not result in any potential conflicts of interests between her
and Beijing Ruier or its designee. If any potential conflicts
of interests arises, the Registered Shareholder shall protect
and not harm the interests of Beijing Ruier, its subsidiaries
or its indirect offshore shareholders. If there is any conflict
of interests, the Registered Shareholder shall take action
to eliminate such conflict of interests in a timely manner
and as approved by Beijing Ruier or its designee. In the
event that the Registered Shareholder refuses to take such
action, Beijing Ruier is entitled to exercise the option under
the Exclusive Option Agreement in accordance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney shall
be effective upon signing and have an indefinite term
unless terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier
and/or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold
all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by
the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of
the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets
of Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreements, or (iii) continuing
performance of the agreement will result in violation of
or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of the
Stock Exchange.

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

BRBRRAR  ZRABHERATHRENSEHHSA
ERERAEEEA LT ZBEREREENNES
R GEHREMBENFSER - BLBRERE
WAEEILRIRE - HF QB SREREREIMNORN
Mg o EHREANEER - SRR E KR
78 WL RIREREETEA LA - B &
BER EBERBRREBRDZITEY - ERIEME
BEREPEMBREZRZRTERRBERGEEAT
HRB R HE -

ZEHEMREERZRNEN  BHEHR - K
FHENTER TR - (VHIE R R REEE
ATREFEMNTEDEARZFF A EAERFE R
Inf2m 2 afiE - RV 2 RERETTK
REANRIHREHEECRBERDBRERE
RERAEETIRImA R, SHEEEAL - ()R
B HE - Sk EERTHE KSR
ReAETEROPEDERER - EAR RIS
FTE) EADARE



100

Arrail Group Limited InmSEEBR AT

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

(iv)

Equity Pledge Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and
the Registered Shareholder entered into an equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement’), pursuant to
which (i) the Registered Shareholder agrees to pledge all
of her equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier
as a security interest to guarantee the performance of the
contractual obligations and payment of outstanding debts
under the Contractual Arrangements

If the Registered Shareholder receives any dividend from
Shenzhen Ruijian during the term of the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder agrees to give
all the dividends she received to Beijing Ruier as a gift.
In the event of any breach of obligations by Shenzhen
Ruijian or the Registered Shareholder, Beijing Ruier, upon
issuing a written notice to the Registered Shareholder, will
be entitled to all remedies available under PPC laws and
the Contractual Arrangements, including but not limited to
disposing of the equity interests pledged in its favor.

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered
Shareholder undertakes to Beijing Ruier, among others, not
to transfer the equity interests pledged and not to create
or permit the creation of any other pledge or encumbrance
without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent. Shenzhen
Ruijian further undertakes to Beijing Ruier not to assist
or permit any transfer of the equity interests pledged or
to assist or permit the creation of any other pledge or
encumbrance without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent.

The Equity Pledge Agreement shall remain effective unless
terminate in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated
person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations,
(ii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates the agreement, or
(iii) continuing performance of the agreement will result in
violation of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of
the Stock Exchange.

(iv)

REE 175

202098 A208 @ It RimM « FEIInE
MELRRET —MHRELD TG ([REE
BigE ) Bt()EBELRRBEBERNFY
Inf2r 2 SP AR IR 38 T At Im B {E BB R
&= WRBEERITARZHERETHNARE T
S REEER o

11 B 0 SR P B B 3 g o B ] B R Y 3 2
WCERAEAIAL S, - R RE B R B B R EL U Y
2R REETILRRE - WRRYIRENE
EERREREE - A RIR@ R E LR RE
H—EEARMZRE - BEREFBIEREM
ERZHESHY  BREETRREERE
RS e AT E R AR o

RIBRAEE R - B RIRE IR A
o (AR T eE8RCdWmiE - 8
HEILEFHEBNERTERENTERILIK
AFFRLEMEMERLEERERE - RYK
g —Hmlt R BARE  EEIETIGRN
ERTHERAE  TEHBXFERCDER
H B AR R B R A FF R A Kb B AR R E
ERE-

RIETHBZHEN  BIERATBERE
IE ()t R R REEEALRER
ERE R BRI A e E E A YR
B2 SRR HE BR Y 62 9 2 SRR HE SR Y13
EEPEECRBEEAPEEAZER LS
FETIRIEBR S SEEEAL ()RR
MEFmA (i RERITHEBER
ERINETEANFBREEER - LW
Bk B R AT E MR T -



2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

101

Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our VIE Entities primarily engage in the operation of dental clinics
and dental hospitals in China. According to the Negative List,
medical institutions fall within the “restricted” investment category,
and therefore may not be held 100% by foreign investors, and
foreign investments are restricted to the form of sino-foreign joint
venture (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”). In light of the
Foreign Ownership Restriction, we determined that it was not
viable for the Company to (i) directly or indirectly hold more than
90% equity interest in medical institutions in Sichuan province
such as Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai and its subsidiaries; or (ii) directly
or indirectly hold more than 70% equity interest in medical
institutions of other provinces including Chongging. As such,
upon completion of the reorganization, we through the Contractual
Arrangements indirectly hold 90% equity interest in Chengdu
Wuhou Ruitai and 70% equity interest in (i) Beijing Shengbin, (ii)
Beijing Ruicheng, (iii) Shanghai Yazheng, (iv) Shenzhen Ruier,
(v) Shanghai Ruitai, (vi) Hangzhou Shengbin, (vii) Shanghai
Shengbin, (viii) Qingdao Ruiqi, (ix) Chongging Ruisheng (through
Chongging Jinmei), (x) Chongging Jiuyue, (xi) Chongging Ruitai,
(xii) Chongging Ruihong Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EEFE O EF2
AR AF]), (xiii) Chongging Ruihua Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EE
EOREPIZEABRAF]) and (xiv) Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (B/MBFimIEORERER A A).

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations, as well as to
maintain maximum equity control over and to obtain all of the
economic benefits derived from the operation of VIE Entities, the
Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Beijing Ruier,
entered into a series of the Contractual Arrangements.

For further details of the foreign investment restrictions, please
refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements -
Background of the Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i)

(if)

if the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the Company’s
business in China do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the Group could be
subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of
the Company’s interest in the VIE Entities;

the Registered Shareholder of Shenzhen Ruijian may have
conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially
and adversely affect our business and financial condition;

the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control as direct ownership;

if the Company exercise the option to acquire equity
ownership and assets of Shenzhen Ruijian, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the risks relating to
the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation with the implementation and compliance of the
Contractual Arrangements:

(1)

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
our annual reports and interim reports to update our
Shareholders and potential investors; and
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(4) the Company will engage external legal advisers or other
professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements
and the legal compliance of Beijing Ruier and the VIE
Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from
the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The VIE Entities will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and their directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) and their respective
associates will be treated as the Company’s connected persons.
Shenzhen Ruijian will be treated as a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Group and are subject to reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to
the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant
to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of
setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the
requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements
to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as our Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
subject however to the conditions provided under the waiver. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Prospectus.

Material Change or Termination of the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended March 31, 2025, (i) there were no new
contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities, (ii) there were no material
changes in the Contractual Arrangements or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and (iii) none of the structured
contracts under the Contractual Arrangements mentioned
above has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements have been removed.
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Annual Review

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and have confirmed
that the Contractual Arrangements were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with the respective
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(a) the transactions carried out during the year ended March
31, 2025 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, and
that the profit generated by the VIE Entities has been
substantially retained by Beijing Ruier;

no dividends or other distributions have been made by
the VIE Entities or any non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and

other than the Contractual Arrangements, no new contracts
have been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities during the year
ended March 31, 2025.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Contractual
Arrangement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unmodified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
Contractual Arrangement.
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Notice of the Ministry of Commerce, the NHC and the NMPA on
Launching the Pilot Program of Expanding Opening-Up in the
Medical Sector (Shang Zi Han [2024] No. 568) (R EER A £ R
RERREERFANEBRERAFRBEARMSRN TIENBHM(EE X
[2024]568 %)) (the “Notice”) was jointly issued on September 7,
2024. Subsequent to the issuance of the Notice, the NHC released
the detailed work proposals for wholly foreign-owned hospitals
in nine major cities, namely Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai, Nanjing,
Suzhou, Fuzhou, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hainan Island, lifted
the ban on foreign-invested enterprises engaged in cell and gene
therapy in certain free trade zones, and allowed the establishment
of wholly foreign-owned hospitals in certain cities, including but
not limited to:

1) The foreign investor applying for the establishment of
a wholly foreign-owned hospital shall be a legal person
capable of independently assuming civil liabilities, with
direct or indirect experience in medical and healthcare
investment and management, and meet the following
conditions: the investor of the foreign hospital shall be able
to provide internationally advanced hospital management
concepts, models, and service patterns; offer medical
technology and equipment at an internationally advanced
level; address local deficiencies in medical service
capacity, medical technology, and medical facilities, thus
expanding the diversity of service supply.

2) The wholly foreign-owned hospital shall be established and
operated in accordance with the Basic Medical Care and
Health Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Biosecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Regulation on the Administration of Medical Institutions,
the Regulation on the Administration of Human Genetic
Resources of the People’s Republic of China and other
laws and regulations, and meet the following conditions:

i The hospital can operate on a for-profit or
not-for-profit basis;

ii. The hospital is categorized as a general, specialized,
or rehabilitation hospital at the tertiary level. It
is prohibited to establish psychiatric hospitals,
infectious disease hospitals, blood disease
hospitals, TCM hospitals, hospitals of integrated
traditional Chinese and Western medicine, and
ethnic minority medical hospitals;
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Vi.

Vii.

The hospital shall not register hematology as its
diagnosis and treatment subject;

The hospital is not allowed to carry out diagnosis
and treatment activities with high medical and
ethical risks, mainly including: human organ
transplantation technology, human assisted
reproductive technology, prenatal screening and
prenatal diagnosis technology, psychiatric inpatient
treatment, experimental treatment with new tumor
cell therapy technology, etc.;

The hospital is permitted to employ foreign
physicians, physicians from Hong Kong, Macao and
Taiwan, and other healthcare professionals from
Hong Kong and Macao for short-term practice in
accordance with regulations, and the proportion of
Chinese (mainland) personnel in both management
and healthcare professionals of the hospital shall
not be less than 50%;

The hospital information management system
shall be connected to the local medical service
supervision platform, and the information storage
servers such as electronic medical records and
medical equipment shall be located within the
territory of China;

Hospitals that comply with the relevant regulations
of medical insurance may apply for inclusion
in the medical insurance designated hospitals
according to the procedures. Meanwhile, hospitals
are encouraged to establish connections with
both domestic and international commercial health
insurance providers.

Although the pilot program for wholly foreign-owned hospitals
permits the establishment of foreign-owned independent
hospitals in the wholly foreign-owned hospital pilot areas, based
on the advice of our PRC legal counsel, as none of the medical
institutions involved in the control agreements of the Group
meet the requirements for the type and classification of medical
institutions stipulated in the pilot program for wholly foreign-owned
hospitals, the Company currently has no intention/plan to unwind
the Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Contractual Arrangements” above, no contract
of significance was entered into between the Company, or one of
its subsidiary companies, and any of its controlling shareholders
or subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total
of 13,632,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange’s market at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$74.6 million, among
which 13,239,500 repurchased Shares were cancelled as of
March 31, 2025. As of March 31, 2025, the Company held 392,500
treasury shares. The Company intends to use the treasury shares
as awards for the participant(s) in the RSU Scheme and the 2022
RSU Scheme, and/or for other purposes in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Board believed that the repurchase was effected for the
enhancement of the Shareholders’ value in the long term.

No. of share
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Average or

Highest price Lowest price Total

repurchased paid per Share paid per Share Consideration

BRERG sRE G

A XA F1 2]
ROEA RESER BIRER wmEE
HK$ HK$ HK$
Month of repurchase [EE A {3 BT I BT

2024 2024 F

April 4 H 5,398,500 5.85 5.36  31,579,030.00
May 5H 3,201,500 6.29 6.12  20,144,345.50
June 6 H 1,300,000 5.07 4.96 6,587,455.00
July 7H 3,179,500 4.49 3.91 14,274,019.20
August 8 H 160,000 3.93 3.59 628,850.00
October 104 392,500 3.41 3.34 1,338,400.70
Total &5t 13,632,000 5.47 3.34 74,552,100.40
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its R EXFT#EEI - RMEEAR - KA RS ETM

subsidiaries, purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities
of the Company (including sale of the treasury shares) during the
Reporting Period.
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PURCHASE OF WEALTH MANAGEMENT PRODUCT

As at March 31, 2025, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from Huatai Financial Holding (Hong
Kong) Limited amounting to US$21,660,000 (equivalent to
RMB155,483,000), while as of March 31, 2024, the amount was
US$17,063,000 (equivalent to RMB121,062,000).

As at March 31, 2025, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from Futu Securities International
(Hong Kong) Limited amounting to HK$833,000 (equivalent
to RMB769,000), while as of March 31, 2024, the amount was
HK$8,203,000 (equivalent to RMB7,461,000).

As at March 31, 2025, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from UBS AG Hong Kong Branch
amounting to US$18,584,000 (equivalent to RMB133,401,000),
while as of March 31, 2024, the amount was US$6,340,000
(equivalent to RMB44,984,000).

During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group subscribed to
partner’'s capital, becoming a limited partner in TruMed Health
Innovation Fund LP, and the total commitment is US$2,000,000.
As at March 31, 2025, the Group’s investment in TruMed Health
Innovation Fund LP amounting to US$1,030,000 (equivalent to
RMB7,397,000), while as of March 31, 2024, the amount was
US$781,000 (equivalent to RMB5,539,000).

As at March 31, 2025, the Group’s investment in the wealth
management products from Haitong International Securities
Company Limited amounting to US$22,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB157,920,000).

As at March 31, 2025, the Group’s investment in US Treasury from
LGT Bank (Hong Kong) amounting to US$2,100,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,074,000).
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As at March 31, 2025, the Group’'s investment in CCV
Opportunity Fund | LP amounting to US$1,349,000 (equivalent to
RMB9,686,000).

The source of funding for the above wealth management
products are the Group’s internal funds that are not required
immediately for operation or capital expenditure purposes rather
than the proceeds from the IPO. The purchases of above wealth
management products are considered to be part of the Group'’s
treasury management to improve the utilization of its idle funds
and to bring higher return on capital. In addition, the Company
has taken into account the capital needs for daily operations and
capital expenditure when purchasing the wealth management
product and determining the respective subscription amount.

The purchases of above wealth management products will not
affect the daily operations of the Company. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after having made
all reasonable enquiries, Huatai Financial Holding (Hong Kong)
Limited, Futu Securities International (Hong Kong) Limited,
UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, TruMed Health Innovation Fund
LP, Haitong International Securities Company Limited, LGT
Bank (Hong Kong), CCV Opportunity Fund | LP and its ultimate
beneficial owners are third parties independent of the Company
and its connected persons.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration for the year ended March 31, 2025. The Directors are
also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending
or threatened against the Group during the year ended March 31,
2025.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING 2HRBEMESREAE

The Company’'s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on AR EDHA202293 422 BIEB R FT LT » 2Bk
March 22, 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering ZEEREFIEFELA589.98 &8 7T (LLHIBR A
amounted to approximately HK$589.9 million after deduction A& K&EZIRFEEFENEMBTRZ) -

of underwriting commissions and other estimated expenses in

connection with the Global Offering.

For the Reporting Period, the Company had used the net proceeds  FREHR » KRR RE B2 IRESMSRBEFHEAR
from the Global Offering for the following purposes: IATFRE :
Percentage of
proceed from the
Utilization Unutilized  Global Offering
Amount of Unutilized duringthe ~ netproceeds  expected to be Expected
net proceeds Percentage  net proceeds year ended as of used for timeframe for
for the of total net ~as of April 1, March 31, March 31, the year ending unutilized net
relevant use proceeds 2024 2025 2025  March 31, 2026 proceeds
HE2026%
BZ20F BE2025%  3ANBLEE
RVEE hasE 4B1RMK HZ2005F IANEH  BHBERRR RERE
RN Fresuan ABAE 3A31H ABAE REREIE fresa
BREHE Bt fiE%E  LEEEHA fr&sE WESH RARER
HK$ million % HKS million HKS million HK$ million
BERT % BEAT BEAT BEAT
Business expansion
£HER
Increase penetration and grow footprint 3244 56.0% 181.8 492 132.6 10% By the year ending
in existing and emerging Tier-1 cities March 31, 2027
in China and existing Tier-2 cities in China
HERERAE-SUT R ARE R HE07F
REEERUEAREMY 3A3TBILERA
Expansion into new key 118.0 20.0% 50.3 - 50.3 5% By the year ending
Tier-2 cities in China March 31, 2027
ERERERNRL_BHT HE007%
33 BILERR
Subtotal 4424 75.0% 2321 49.2 182.9 15%
St
Build and optimize IT infrastructure 88.5 15.0% 347 176 171 3% By the year ending
March 31, 2027
BRRELESEHENERE HE007%
3R BILERH
Working capital 5.0 10.0% 413 136 217 2% By the year ending
March 31, 2027
gEES HE0275
SASIALLERH
Total 589.9 100.0% 308.1 804 217 20%
LR
Note: Bt -

The net proceeds have been and will be utilized in accordance with  SEREHBEERKY FIRIEBESIEMEFHEEH - K5
the purposes set out in the Prospectus. The unutilized net proceeds B EFERIEBHERE E2027F3 318 IFFEER
are expected to be fully utilized by the year ending March 31, 2027.  E#&)E - FIsFTE AR TEEFE FARRIER VAR AR
The expected timeline for utilizing the remaining proceeds is based on YRR EREREENT R EE N R EMKE - HER
the best estimation of the future progress of business expansion and  FEFRRAE IR EEMEFTEE -

market conditions made by the Company. It will be subject to change

based on the current and future development of market conditions.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has audited the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2025. A resolution
regarding the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Group’s auditor will be proposed at the AGM. There is no change
of auditor since the Listing Date.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On June 27, 2025, the Company (as the Lender) and Beier
Holdings Limited (as the Borrower) entered into a third amendment
agreement (the “Third Amendment Agreement’) to the Loan
Agreement (as amended), pursuant to which the Lender and the
Borrower conditionally agreed that, among others, the principal
amount of the loan shall be reduced from US$11 million to US$7.5
million as a result of repayment made in cash by the Borrower,
and the term of the loan shall be further extended from 30 months
to 42 months commencing from the September 30, 2022. On
the same date, to cover the liabilities and obligations of the
Borrower under the Loan Agreement (as amended), the original
share pledge comprising 9,920,675 Shares held by the Borrower,
4,916,475 Shares held by Mr. Zou, and 8,500,000 Shares held
by Mingda International Limited (“Mingda”) was extended, and
10,000,000 Shares held by Mingda and 18,000,000 Shares held
by Rise Day Holdings Limited, were further pledged in favour of
the Company as security for the amendments contained in the
Third Amendment Agreement. The total pledged Shares represent
approximately 9.1% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Save for the above,
all the material terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement
remain unchanged and in force and effect. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated September
29, 2022, June 27, 2023, June 26, 2024, November 29, 2024 and
June 27, 2025.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, the Company
is not aware of any material subsequent events from the year
ended 31 March 2025 to the date of this annual report, which
require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have any plan
for material investments and capital assets.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF THE
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM of the Company will be held on Friday, September 26,
2025. The circular (including notice of the AGM) will be published
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
despatched to the Shareholders in due course.

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, September 23, 2025 to
Friday, September 26, 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all
share transfer documents should be lodged for registration with
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, September 22, 2025.

By Order of the Board

Arrail Group Limited
Mr. ZOU Qifang
Chairman

Beijing, PRC, June 27, 2025
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The Board presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules to ensure that the Company’s business activities
and decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.

The Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions under the Corporate Governance Code during the
Reporting Period, save and except for deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. Details of the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code are explained in the section “Chairman and chief executive
officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Guidelines for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Written Guidelines”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code and the
Written Guidelines during the Reporting Period. No incident of
non-compliance of the Written Guidelines by the employees who
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company
was noted by the Company.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of five members, consisting of
two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZOU Qifang (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Jincai

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle
Mr. SUN Jian
Mr. ZHANG Bang

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under “Profiles
of Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as disclosed above, none of the members of the Board had
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material
relationships) with each other.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Zou Qifang is the chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the practice
under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
where it provides that the two positions should be held by two
different individuals. As Mr. Zou is the founder of the Group and
has been managing the Group’s business and overall strategic
planning since its establishment, the Directors consider that
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Zou
is beneficial to the business prospects and management of the
Group by ensuring consistent leadership within the Group. Taking
into account all the current corporate governance measures
that we had implemented, the Board considers that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively. Accordingly, the
Company had not segregated the roles of its chairman and chief
executive officer. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company at an appropriate time if necessary, taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board
committees of the Company. Through active participation at Board
meeting, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests, all independent non-executive Directors
have made various contributions to the effective direction of
the Company and provided adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to renewal
upon expiry of the existing term.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on December 1, 2021. The initial
term of their service contract shall commence from the date of
his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a period of
three years after or until the third annual general meeting of the
Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and shall
be automatically renewed for successive periods of three years
(subject always to re-election as and when required under the
Articles of Association) until terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the service contract or by either party
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on November 25, 2021.
The initial term for their appointment letters shall commence from
the date of his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a
period of three years after or until the third annual general meeting
of the Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and
shall be automatically renewed for successive periods of three
years (subject always to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association), until terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into
a service contract with the Group that is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition, making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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In accordance with article 109 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. The Director who has not been subject
to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding the annual
general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual general
meeting. The Directors to retire shall be those who have been
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and
so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 113 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

By virtue of articles 109 and 113 of the Articles of Association,
each of Mr. Zou Qifang and Mr. Zhang Jincai will retire by rotation
from office and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their
re-appointment at the AGM. The Company’s circular, sent together
with this annual report, contains detailed information of the above
recommended persons as required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of
the Group and its operation and financial performance, ensuring
that the Directors perform their proper duties and act in the best
interests of the Group and hold discussions on various important
and proper businesses of the Company in a timely manner.
All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters that
should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda
of the Board meeting. The management shall provide members
of the Board and specialized committees under the Board with
appropriate and sufficient information in a timely manner so as
to update them with the latest developments of the Group and to
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better facilitate the discharge of their duties. The management
team is accountable to the Board, executing the strategies and
plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions in relation to
the day-to-day operation of the Group. Directors have resources
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has been arranged
by the Company to indemnify the Board members for liabilities
arising out of corporate activities for the year ended March 31,
2025.

Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors should be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis, in
particular the portion of the independent non-executive
Directors and the independence of the independent non-
executive Director who has served for more than nine
years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in relation to his/her independence
to the Company. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and
to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company's
controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the
controlling shareholders, would abstain from voting in the
relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s policy.

HEMZEgXBERREHRRERTREN  BE
HMABEREENZHERAE S HIEBETRS - &
BEEGHEFERE WITHEFSH TR B
KEtdl WIEHBBASBEAEEENAK - EF
ISRBUEFERUNBTRENEE EAAN
REVEYE AR NEBEEERNHEALRR SR
EEE -

ARBERFEENEEETRR  UHEESS
BCEREE2025F3 A31 A I FEERQFEE P&
EWEME -

TERIBI B2 B
ARBERBBATHNAEETSRHEABILIER

1. REAZBERSFENEFTENARIEL
FERTEENBYE - BRIRBILIENITE
ENHLEARE ERBBNFOBEIIFNIT
EEMBUME -

2. ARAE KRB SBLIIFNTESRELTR
AIFESABMGMEBE AR BLIEHANS
EHER - ARARIRRAEBLIENTESRY
JBIEL -

3. ENBRERRFNEEEAERMERNEE
R FFRARAERBRR S RIERERE
TFRAMNEER RS REBAENES
HEABEZERRRE, SEBEANRZS
MEREFERBRTHRRE

4. EEgIREEFE) - REBYFRNTES
B e

5. FREFENEAERBEAFNBRRETRE
B AISRBEVEXER (MBE) -



2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

119

Corporate Governance Report

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.

Training, Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

Induction materials and briefings regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest in the Group will be provided to newly appointed Directors
upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing briefings and
professional development trainings to Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange and
fund the training in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code.
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BB R saElg
[GE4=4
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. ZOU Qifang (Chairman) BEFHE (FEF) v v
Mr. ZHANG Jincai BIRALE v Vv
Ms. XIN Qin Jessie F#+ (R2024F9 A26 HIET) Vv Vv
(Retired on September 26, 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITEE
Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle ElES ikt v Vv
Mr. SUN Jian BigrE v Vv
Mr. ZHANG Bang SREE S A Vv v
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Directors’ Attendance at Meetings

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. Details of the attendance records of Directors’
attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and
general meeting are set out below:

EEHEOH

RBEMA - AAREBTAREESERR 1R
FAG - EFHFEFERE EEZEERER
REA S SRR T

No. of Meetings Attended/No. of Meetings Eligible to Attend

HEEERY EHENEERY

Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee  Meeting
EZg EiZEE REZEg ¥FMEEE RRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. ZOU Qifang (Chairman) PEFRE(LE) 4/4 - - - 111
Mr. ZHANG Jincai ERAEAE 4/4 - - - N
Ms. XIN Qin Jessie FHLT 2/2 - - - il
(Retired on September 26, 2024) (FA2024F9 26 HIET)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHETEE
Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle Axmat 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. SUN Jian Bk aE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Bang RERAE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the above RIREHRA @ B EXRABEEIN  THE2EFIE

table, the chairman has held one meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
day-to-day management and operation of the Company to the
senior management of the Company to oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. The Company has established three
committees under the Board pursuant to the regulations and
corporate governance practice requirements under the Listing
Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated to the
Board committee responsibilities as set out in their respective
term of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually,
assist the Board in maintaining a board skills matrix, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (b) to determine
the policy for the nomination of Directors, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and may
select individuals nominated for directorship; (c) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (d)
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into the
Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future; and (e) to support
the Company’s regular evaluation of the Board's performance.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle, Mr.
SUN Jian and Mr. ZHANG Bang. Mr. SUN Jian is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board, assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board
on the re-election of the Directors at the Company’'s annual
general meeting held in 2024.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”’) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also
to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
in Board members and see increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining our competitive advantage.
A Board with diversified members includes and capitalizes of
different skills, regional and industry experience, background,
race, gender and other qualities of directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised of five Directors, including four male Directors and one
female Director with different appropriate skills, knowledge and
experience to promote and achieve better performance of the
Company. Three of them are independent non-executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process.
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition and
the nomination of Directors (as applicable), Board diversity has to
be considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

We aim to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to our business growth.
In particular, we recognise that gender diversity at the Board level
can be improved given one out of five of the Directors is female
as at the date of this annual report. We will continue to apply
the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken,
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the management levels. In particular, taking into account
the business needs of the Group and changing circumstances
from time to time that may affect the Group’s business plans,
we will actively identify female individuals suitably qualified to
become the Board members and we aim to achieve a target
of 20% female representation in the Board. To further ensure
gender diversity of the Board in a long run, the Group will also
identify and select several female individuals with a diverse
range of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields
from time to time, and maintain a list of such female individuals
who possess qualities to become the Board members, which
will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee quarterly in
order to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

As of March 31, 2025, among the 3,111 employees of the Group
(including senior management), 588 are males (19%) and 2,523
are females (81%). The Board is satisfied with the gender diversity
of the employees.
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Nomination Policy

A nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) for Directors was
formally adopted and this incorporated the nomination criteria
and principles for Directors. The Nomination Policy applies to the
Directors and where applicable, senior management prepared for
Board positions under the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of the Directors; (ii) ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Nomination procedure

Appointment of new Directors

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the management
and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of
the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of
the proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.

(iii)

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any issues related to its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review
and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (c) to monitor integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them; and (d) to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective systems.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees of the Company; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosures in the corporate governance report.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle, Mr.
SUN Jian and Mr. ZHANG Bang. Mr. ZHANG Bang, who holds
the appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rule 3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules, is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the annual audit plan, annual results
and annual report of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2024, the interim results and interim report of the Group for
the six months ended September 30, 2024, the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements and results of the Group
for the Reporting Period, discussed and recommended to the
Board on the re-appointment of external auditor and reviewed the
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosures
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the
principle that no Director or any of their associates should be
involved in deciding his own remuneration, include, without
limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; (c) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment; and (d) to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. LIU Xiaomei
Michelle, Mr. SUN Jian and Mr. ZHANG Bang. Mr. SUN Jian is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 2
meeting and had reviewed the remuneration policy for all Directors
and senior management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Au Wai Ching has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company with effect from April 22, 2022. Ms. Au is a
senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, a corporate service provider, who fulfils the qualification
requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended March 31, 2025, Ms. Au has taken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The main
contact person of Ms. Au in the Company is Ms. Xin Qin Jessie,
the chief financial officer of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group by band
for the Reporting Period is set out below:

Band of remuneration (RMB)

HZE2025F3A3MALEFE BRLTERELTH
RIZE3. 2016 MIR T Z R D15/ B A8 F 1 2258
e BEXTHEARANEZHEABEARG RN
BEFHL T -

BREEANBHH

AEESREEAERREHUTABEE SO
Ban T

No. of person

FoEE (ARY) A
500,001 to 1,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 3

2,000,001 to 2,500,000

1

The band of remuneration of the above senior management does
not include the remuneration of Mr. ZOU Qifang and Mr. ZHANG
Jincai, and the particulars of their remuneration are set out in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 136 to 145 of this annual
report.

The fees paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s
auditor, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended March 31, 2025 are analysed below:
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RAFRE 136 B E 145 BB TR E -

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE B BNEAQFE
STENZE R KB e s IS T E T BRI M IR AT
REERADTMOT :

Fees paid/payable

RMB’ 000

Types of services provided by the external auditors Bt EREA

SNEEH IR MR ERE AR¥TR

Audit service — audit service fee for the year ended FTIRTE — HZE2025F3A31H 1 4,000
March 31, 2025 FENBARBER

Non-audit service — Sustainability/environmental, social and  FFEETIRHG — AJHHEHE RS 287

governance advisory and Hong Kong Profits Tax
Compliance services
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BRI




2024/25 Annual Report G E# &

129

Corporate Governance Report

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

The re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers has been
recommended by the Audit Committee and endorsed by the
Board, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended March 31, 2025, which give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company
provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors have not been aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditors of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 136 to 145 in this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems on a yearly basis so as to
ensure that the internal control and risk management systems in
place are adequate. The purpose is to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements, errors, losses
or fraud, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
achieving the Group’s business objectives.
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The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Group has set up an internal audit
function to carry out independent reviews of the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems and reports their findings to the Board, at least an annual
basis, due to the size of the Group and for cost effectiveness
consideration.

Risk Management

The Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management
policies which set out a risk management framework to identify,
assess, evaluate, and monitor key risks associated with its
strategic objectives on an ongoing basis. The Board oversees
and manages the overall risks associated with our operations.
Risks identified by management will be analyzed on the basis
of likelihood and impact, and will be properly followed up and
mitigated and rectified by the Group and reported to the Directors.

The following key principles outline the Group’s approach to risk
management the Company plans to implement:

. The senior management oversees and manages the overall
risks associated with the Group’s business operations,
including (i) reviewing and approving the Company'’s risk
management policy to ensure that it is consistent with its
corporate objectives; (ii) monitoring the most significant
risks associated with the Group’s business operations and
its management’s handling of such risks; and (iii) ensuring
the appropriate application of the risk management
framework across the Group;

° The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible
for (i) formulating and updating the risk management
policy; (ii) reviewing and approving major risk management
issues of the Group; (iii) promulgating risk management
measures; (iv) providing guidance on the Group’s risk
management approach to the relevant departments in the
Group; (v) reviewing the relevant departments’ reporting
on key risks and providing feedback; (vi) supervising the
implementation of the risk management measures by the
relevant departments; (vii) ensuring that the appropriate
structure, processes and competencies are in place across
the Group; and (viii) reporting to the Audit Committee on
the Group’s material risks;
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The relevant departments in the Group, including but not
limited to the finance department, the legal department,
and the human resources department, are responsible for
implementing the risk management policy and carrying out
day-to-day risk management practice. In order to formalize
risk management across the Group and set a common
level of transparency and risk management performance,
the relevant departments will (i) gather information
about the risks relating to their operation or function; (ii)
conduct risk assessments, which include the identification,
measurement, prioritization and categorization of all
key risks that could potentially affect their objectives;
(iii) define and implement appropriate risk responses
where necessary; (iv) prepare a risk management report
annually for the Company’s chief executive officer’s review;
(v) continuously monitor the key risks relating to their
operation or function; and (vi) develop and maintain an
appropriate mechanism to facilitate the application of the
risk management framework.

Internal Control

Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures, and
procedures the Group has implemented or plan to implement:

The Group has adopted various measures and procedures
regarding each aspect of its business operation, such as
related party transaction, risk management, protection
of intellectual property, environmental protection and
occupational health and safety.

The Group provides various training programs to keep
the employees updated on relevant laws, regulations,
and policies. The Group’s new employees are required
to attend compliance training programs soon after on-
boarding, and must pass tests which examine their
understanding of the compliance issues addressed by
the training programs. The Group's employees are also
required to regularly attend on-site and online training
sessions to keep them informed of recent updates in the
relevant laws and regulations.

The Directors (who are responsible for monitoring the
corporate governance of the Group), with help from
the Company’s legal advisers, periodically review the
Company’s compliance status with all relevant laws and
regulations.
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. The Company has established the Audit Committee
which (i) makes recommendations to the Directors on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; and (ii)
reviews the financial statements and renders advice in
respect to financial reporting as well as oversees internal
control procedures of the Group.

. The Group maintains strict anti-bribery & anti-corruption
policies and believes it will therefore be less affected by
the increasingly stringent measures taken by the PRC
government to correct corruptive practices in the medical
industry.

The Board, together with the Audit Committee, had reviewed
the internal control and risk management systems for the
Reporting Period and is satisfied that the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

The Company recognises the importance of protecting the
confidentiality of potential inside information. Procedures are in
place to control the dissemination of inside information, including
the monitoring of potential inside information to ensure that
relevant facts and circumstances that may have material effect
on the share price of the Company are promptly identified and
assessed, and escalating the matter for the attention of the Board,
if necessary, to determine whether a disclosure is needed.

The Audit Committee would continue to assist the Board to
oversee the work of such consultancy firm and review the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. One or more members holding, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the
share capital of the Company may also make a requisition to
convene an extraordinary general meeting and add resolutions
to the agenda of a meeting. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a general
meeting, the Shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures
for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”,
may follow the same procedures by sending a written requisition
to the Board. The Shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as
early as practicable to enable the Company to make necessary
arrangement.

SHEAHE

IR RAER
BRERABARREINAENREF

RIFABERMDAF6AG  EFSURERLA
BREBRBRFIAE - REZERAHPA RIS
TORARRFEBRAREE (REk—F+E) +
D2 R BURRIFAIERESTSERME
FRIRE » TRRBRINARNEGHE - BAERA
NERAFAMEFEXNARAANARWERD - #
NBREEGREIERRERMIEAZEMNERM
ARBRRFIARE - ZARERREZZ 2 REWE
ARETT - WREZ2®21AR  EFSREMGAE N
ZRG - AREERALTAUARET XGRS
MEEBRALTHEFTERECTRAARNEMBHOM
BEAEMAXARARBMEZERALEN -

(et

BRRRBRRAELRERHBERNERF

fRBEN IR RAS LR SR - ARE ERIE
ARBRE A IEF | PrEi R AR ER T -
ZRRATAMKREREFMESFSHLEMENR -
ZERBAEAERFIPAELZELBRERZE
EEFKAEBARRBEHPAT L -



134

Arrail Group Limited wREBEERQ T

Corporate Governance Report
SEEAREE

Procedures for directing Shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact
details are as follows:

Address:

MESERIRREANEF

BRRAMARBEXE@MANL - AREFTSRHEE
MERIEZ - BRERDT ¢

10F, Building A, Gemdale Matrix Center

No. 36, Louzizhuang Road, Chaoyang District
Beijing, the PRC (For the attention of the Board of Arrail Group Limited)

A hEIdE R

BHI5 [ AT BE 36 5 BT

SHRREF OAEAORE (ETHUMA BB EEERAFTEER)

Email address:
TE AL

ir@arrailgroup.com
ir@arrailgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Groups’ business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The Company has an ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders
and other investors through various communication channels
set out in the Shareholders’ communication policy and takes
any areas of concern into consideration when formulating its
business strategies. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, and, where applicable, the chairman of the
independent board committee are available to answer questions
at general meeting. To promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.arrailgroup.com where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business
operations and development, financial information and other
information are available to public access.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the
Shareholders’ communication policy and confirmed its
effectiveness.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Board proposed to amend
and restate the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company for the purpose of, among others, (i) bringing the third
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company in line with the amendments to the Listing
Rules which mandates the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers to their securities holders which
came into effect from December 31, 2023; and (ii) making other
consequential and housekeeping amendments. The proposed
amendment and adoption of the fourth amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was
approved the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the
annual general meeting held on September 26, 2024. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated July
19, 2024 and circular dated July 26, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change made to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company for the
year ended March 31, 2025.

The latest Articles of Association are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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To the Shareholders of Arrail Group Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
continued in the Cayman lIslands)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Arrail Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 146 to 295, comprise:

o The consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025;
o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion ERNER
We conducted our audit in accordance with International HKMERE(HEEZD) ([(BEBFEFEL)]) #
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those {78t - RMEZSER TEAENE T D EARE
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities [ ZFrtAIE BT & BT AENE T o+ 1E
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of  #— il o
our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient {4812 - RFIFESHB BB E LB

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

in our professional

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and implantology
services

o Impairment assessment of goodwill
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESAOMEEFERENSHE

Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and implantology
services

Refer to notes 2.16, 5(b) and 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FH2HA M BIHRMTE2.16 - H7E5(b) RHMIFT -

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately RMB368 million and RMB310 million
respectively, which represented approximately 22% and
18% of the total revenue of the Group respectively.

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE @ RE EWRETFREOBAD
R ABAREISAETMAREII0OBET  DAhEEE
AU A BN H)22% K 18% °

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group'’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of the services, by reference to
the staff costs and/or costs of inventories, consumables
and customised products incurred, when appropriate,
expended up to the end of the year as a percentage of the
total expected costs to complete the respective services.

KA ERMEFRBOBAR -RERBAER  ERRAZK
AAEREERITRBNER - ZEEERESERETREM
EHBHERAGE - UKBEBERFRERTEERA
CEMBIRAR 7K - B RATRERKA (WERH)
1A SR AR RE AR TS O AR TR ERRC R O EL 1

A EWRAEFRE WA B G

Our procedures in relation to estimation of revenue from
orthodontics and implantology services were mainly as
follows:

BMERRE ERMETREBRANGEFEFERNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key
internal controls in relation to the estimation of the
total expected costs necessary to complete the
orthodontics and implantology services;

- TRIFEEEERRG TRER METRE B E
B TR RAAK AN O B 8 1 AR H I

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to estimate the total expected
costs necessary to complete the orthodontics and
implantology services;

= FHGE TR B R LA AT ST IE RS MBI IR TS & B R AR TR
HIRK AR B A HE S 1
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESAOMEEFERENSHE

We focused on this area as the determination of the
amount of revenue recognised from orthodontics and
implantology services is based on management’s
estimation of the total expected costs to complete the
services, which is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the estimation
of revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
is considered relatively high due to the subjectivity of
significant assumptions used to estimate total expected
costs.

BMEIZBTHENRRER - EEXK A Rl RET R
EERRASRIENEIEREH TR IR O EFERK AR E
it B EBEMFTEEN - AR ARG ATEK AR
BARBROIEIN - ARM KA ERRETRBEOKAL
BB ERERSIEEERS

- Assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions
used by management when estimating the total
expected costs to complete the orthodontics and
implantology services by comparing estimated
future costs with the Group’s historical internal
data, including the staff costs and/or costs
of inventories, consumables and customised
products, in which the historical internal data are
tested to the supporting documents on a sample
basis;

= BB AR AR R A R E KB E L a8z (B
BEIRAR /S FE #EHRIRERKAR) - 7T
B EE MG T ER RET R L EHETRHRA
RAAERBRRNAEN  EPHESLABEIEETT
ORI A A REBA S

- Compared, on a sample basis, the outcome of
prior year estimations of the total expected costs
to complete the orthodontics and implantology
services made by management to the actual
cost incurred to complete the services, in
order to assess the historical effectiveness of
management’s estimation process; and

= MEH L EREE L —FE YK ERRET RN
IR ATV il 5t B SE AR IR TS EE £ RO B IR B AS
ARHEEIREFTEFRELR - R

- Considered whether the judgments made in
selecting significant assumptions would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

- EZRBEBBEARKEMENAHB S LI REREA L
FHRIHNTR

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the significant assumptions used in estimating
revenue from orthodontics and implantology services are
supported by available evidence.

ERBHTNRER - RARRMEE KA B RET R
AFERMEANRRFE TREBIRASH ©
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNAEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to notes 2.5.1, 2.6, 5(f) and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FHL2HAMMBRERMTE2.5.1 « WiF2.6 - MRS KT T
18 ¢

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s carrying amount of
goodwill amounted to RMB197 million.

MR2025F3A31H  EEERENEEEAARKI97TEE
ﬁ:o

The Group is required to perform an impairment
assessment of goodwill on an annual basis, or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
goodwill might be impaired.

EREAST (REEFHLRAERS AT BT LR
FBES) 1T BB o

BB ER

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill were mainly as follows:

BMEEREREFGENREFEIZNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill;

- THRYTHESEFERERETEOBERAEE
& s

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to perform its impairment
assess